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Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise

Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EHEWE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Code Agriculture
(Holdings) Limited (formerly known as China Chief Cable
TV Group Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), | would like
to present the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

Business Review and Financial Review
Financial review

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$220,796,000 (2009:
approximately HK$6,824,000) from continuing operations.
The increase was mainly due to the revenue contributed
by newly acquired businesses, namely sales of
agricultural machinery and fertilizer.

Since the completion of acquisition of Kang Yuan
Universal Investment Ltd (“Kang Yuan”) and its
subsidiaries (“Kang Yuan Group”) on 1 February 2010,
Kang Yuan Group has contributed HK$213,048,000
revenue in which sales of agricultural machinery and
sales of fertilizer amounted to HK$102,505,000 and
HK$110,543,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, revenue from
provision of TV digitalisation related services amounted
to approximately HK$1,142,000 (2009: HK$593,000). The
business of Sky Dragon Group will be further improved
as a result of the process of launching digital television
network across the PRC by the PRC government.

Revenue from sale of cordyceps related product amounted
to approximately HK$6,606,000 (2009: HK$6,231,000).

The Group discontinues the operation of pre-mastering
and other media services (“Media Services”), audiovisual
playout services (“Playout Services”) and direct TV sales
in order to concentrate its financial and human resources
on its high growth potential businesses.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Business Review and Financial Review (Continved)
Financial review (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2010, revenue
from Media Services amounted to approximately
HK$14,484,000 (2009: HK$16,334,000).

Revenue from the Playout Services amounted to
approximately HK$4,890,000 (2009: HK$4,070,000) of the
Group’s Revenue.

Revenue from direct TV sales amounted to approximately
HK$563,000 (2009: HK$1,513,000).

The Group generated a gross profit of approximately
HK$69,624,000 (2009: HK$3,968,000) out of a total
revenue of approximately HK$220,796,000 (2009:
approximately HK$6,824,000). The gross profit margin
has been dropped from 58% in 2009 to 32% in the
current year, mainly due to the incorporation of result of
sales of agricultural machinery and fertilizer businesses
which have lower profit margin than cordyceps related
business.

The Group posted a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$269,331,000 (2009:
HK$283,421,000) for the current year from continuing
and discontinuing operation. It is mainly due to (a)
impairment of goodwill of cordyceps related business
HK$15,700,000 (2009: HK$4,019,000) (b) impairment of
patent of cordyceps related business HK$88,000,000
(2009: Nil) and (c) loss on discontinuing operations
HK$169,091,000 (2009: 262,765,000).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EHEWE

Business Review and Financial Review (Continved)
Business Pursuits and Prospects

Despite the uncertainty of 2009, we took steps to
prepare for the future. In view of slow and low performing
businesses of the Group, it started to streamline and
reposition it as a growth corporation. For the year under
review, several measures are taken, including acquisition
of a high growth tobacco agricultural company with
strong business and financial track records in February
2010 and discontinuing several non-performing business
units including audiovisual playout services and
premastering, other media services and direct television
sales. For the year under review, the Group set up an
advertising division in Hunan that started generating
revenue.

Acquisition

The Group entered the modern tobacco agriculture
market in the PRC upon the completion of acquiring
the entire issued share capital of Kang Yuan Universal
Investment Limited (“Kang Yuan”) in February 2010 and
changed the company name from China Chief Cable TV
Group Limited to Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited on
23 March 2010. Kang Yuan holds 100% equity interest of
Jiangsu Kedi Modern Agricultural Company Ltd (“Jiangsu
Kedi”), the leading enterprise in the modern tobacco
agricultural in the PRC, which also possesses over 35%
market share, ranking the first in sale volume among the
major flue-curing machinery suppliers in 2009.

Tobacco Industry

Tobacco is the only regulated industry in the PRC that
provincial tobacco manufacturers in different regions are
directly controlled by the central government. Moreover,
the PRC is the largest cigarette consumption country,
accounting for approximately one-third of the total
consumption in the world. Tobacco industry is the major
tax revenue source to the country.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Business Review and Financial Review (Continved)
Business Pursuits and Prospects (Continued)
Repositioning

After repositioning, modern tobacco agriculture became
the Group’s core business. To tap the rapid growing
closed tobacco agriculture market in the PRC, the
Group concentrates and committed its resources and
effort on engaging in a wide range of tobacco-related
agricultural businesses which include tobacco leaf drying
equipment, tobacco agricultural machines, tobacco leaf-
specific amino acid and bio-fertilizer, artificial intelligent
nursery greenhouse and tobacco production information
technology system. It is well positioned in terms of
growth opportunities, diversity, and product expansion.

Growth Drivers
Strong market demand driven by government support

The PRC government has also been stipulating policies
of encouraging tobacco drying from using the modern
drying method since 2006 including provide financial
subsidy.

Strong R&D capability with extensive sales and after-
sales network

The Group itself possesses strong competitive edges
as well. Closely co-operated with Nanjing Agricultural
University, Henan Agricultural University and Harbin
Industrial University, it has the strongest independent
research team in the PRC, with strong research and
development track records. The Group’s sales and
after-sales service network are also spread throughout
the country’s major tobacco areas, such as Yunnan,
Guizhou, Sichuan, Henan, Guizhou, Chongging, Hunan,
Hubei, Shandong Province, northeast China, Gansu,
Ningxia, of which, offices or subsidiaries are established
in major tobacco-growing areas including Henan,
Yunnan, Guizhou, Sichuan, Hunan, Chongqging, Guangxi,
Shandong and Heilongjiang.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Business Review and Financial Review (Continved)
Business Pursuits and Prospects (Continued)

Growth Drivers (Continued)

Launch of new products

The Group started to launch new product — tobacco-
specific Amino Acid Bio-fertilizer as well as tobacco
agricultural machines in 2010 in line of tobacco
agricultural policy promoted and implemented by the
government.

Maintain leadership in intensive flue-curing equipment

The Group plans to increase the effort on participating
in tobacco agricultural modernization and to increase its
market share in the industry.

Growth expansions and acquisitions

The Group is a growth driven company, with further high
return investment opportunities available across the
tobacco agricultural value chain for its expansions and
acquisitions.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group used to finance its operation using internally
generated cashflows. However, the acquisition of its
subsidiaries and related capital investments induce
the need for certain debt financing and fund raising. In
addition, the Company issued convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$1,098,000,000 in March 2010 as
part of consideration in acquisition of Kang Yuan Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Liquidity and Financial Resources (Confinued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s total
loans and borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$972,434,000 (2009: HK$15,125,000). Among the total
amounts of such loan and borrowings, approximately
HK$312,227,000 (2009: HK$15,125,000) was payable
within one year and approximately HK$660,207,000, the
liability portion of convertible bond was payable after
one year.

At the end of reporting period, cash and deposit at bank,
including pledged deposit amounted to HK$328,799,000
(2009: HK$6,976,000) and net debt HK$643,635,000
(2009: HK$8,149,000). The gearing ratio became 107%
(2009: 5%) based on the bank and other loans and
convertible bond of approximately HK$972,434,000
(2009: HK$15,125,000) and the equity attributable
to owners of the Company HK$904,851,000 (2009:
HK$269,183,000). The increase of gearing ratio was
attributable to increase in both total and net borrowings
to finance the acquisition of Kang Yuan Group.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment of HK$17,259,000 are pledged to secure
bank loans granted to the Group and bank balance of
HK$135,918,000 are pledged as guarantee deposits for
the issuance of bank acceptance notes to supplier.

The Group’s bank balances and borrowings are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi and the
Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency
fluctuations.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2010.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Employee Information

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had 487 full-time
employees. Employees costs, including directors’
emoluments and share based payment for the
year amounted to approximately HK$22,756,000.
Remuneration is reviewed annually and employees are
rewarded on a performance related basis. In addition to
the basic salaries, a wide range of benefits, including
medical coverage, provident funds, training and
development programmes and long service awards are
also provided on an ongoing basis to employees of the
group. The Group has a share option scheme whereby
qualified employees may be granted options to acquire
shares of the Company.

Wong Man Hung, Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2010
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
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Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Man Hung Patrick, aged 54, is the Chairman
of the Group. Mr. Wong holds a degree in Master of
Business Administration from the University of East Asia,
Macau, and holds a diploma in Management from the
Columbia University, New York, U.S.A. Mr. Wong is also
a founding member and visiting professor of the Institute
of Business Engineering (IBE) degree course. He has
over 30 years’ experience in providing financial advisory
services to the institutional clients. Since the beginning
of 1990’s, Mr. Wong has involved in various infrastructure
projects financing in Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Wong
joined the Group on 1 April 2008.

Mr. LAW Kwok Leung, aged 49, is a founder, Compliance
Officer and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Law
is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategies,
including initiation of video-compression-related research
and development projects of the Group. Mr. Law holds
an honoured Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics
with Operational Research from the University of London
and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from
the University of Greenwich. Mr. Law is a member of the
Chartered Institute of Marketing, a fellow member of the
Institute of Analysts and Programmers and full member of
the Institute of Management. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Neo Telemedia Limited, formerly
known as BIG Media Group Limited, a company listed
on the GEM Board. Before establishing the Group, Mr.
Law has been involved in the consultancy of audiovisual
compression, transmission of audiovisual signals over
the Internet and video-on-demand licensing. Mr. Law has
over 20 years of experience in the advanced technology.
Mr. Law joined the Group in February 1999.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. FENG Xiao Ping, aged 59, is a director of Sky
Dragon Digital Television and Movies Limited and Hunan
Xiaoxiang Digital Television Broadcast Company Limited
(collectively “Sky Dragon”), being subsidiaries of the
Company engaged in the development of digital set-top
boxes and the system platform for the newly launched
digital television network in the PRC. Mr. Feng is also one
of the founders and an executive director of Crossprofit
Development Limited, a company principally engaged in
investment holding, property investment in Hong Kong
and in the PRC and operation of toll highways in the PRC
through its fellow companies and subsidiaries. During the
period from 1998 to 2002, Mr. Feng was the director and
chief executive officer of Asia Television Limited, a free-
to-air terrestrial television broadcaster licensed in Hong
Kong. Mr. Feng joined the Group on 29 April 2005.

Mr. Stephen William FROSTICK, aged 60, obtained a
Juris Doctorate in Old College School of Law, Nevada,
United States in 1984, a Master of Public Administration
and a Bachelor of Science in Business Adminstration
in University of Nevada, Las Vegas, United States in
1976 and 1974 respectively. He is not only an executive
director of China Public Healthcare (Holding) Limited,
formerly known as Neolink Cyber Technology (Holding)
Limited, but also the president and chief executive
officer of the Compeer Group (Macau). Mr. Frostick has
over thirty years of experience in leading capacities in
the state government of Nevada, United States, large
corporations and international consulting organisations.
During his past employment in Kepner Tregoe Inc., Mr
Frostick was involved in the design, development and led
the implementation of Team Concept in Chrysler Motors
Inc. Mr. Frostick is well experienced in strategic planning,
operational management and organisation development
and has about 30 years of senior management
experience. He joined the Group on 3 December 2008.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
EE[N

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro, aged 49, was qualified as
a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in May 1996
and is now a solicitor of Messrs. Chan, Lau and Wai. Mr.
Sousa was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 30 January 2001.

Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua, aged 37, is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has extensive experience
in the fields of auditing, accounting and finance. He is
an independent non-executive director of China Public
Healthcare (Holding) Limited, formerly known as Neolink
Cyber Technology (Holding) Limited, a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He joined the Group on 1 December 2007.

Ms. CHAN Mei Bo Mabel, aged 37, is the sole proprietor
of Mabel Chan & Co, Certified Public Accountants. She
has 16 years’' experience in professional accounting.
She holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) Degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong and
a Master degree of Business Administration from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technoiogy. Ms.
Chan was qualified as a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in 1996. She was also
qualified as a practicing Certified Public Accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in 1998. She is currently the Vice President of the Society
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors, a member of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Honorary Treasurer of
the Hong Kong Professionals Advancement Association
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
She was also the Past President of the Association
of Women Accountants (Hong Kong). She was the
independent non-executive director of China Properties
Investment Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. for
the period from March 2007 to April 2009. She joined the
Group on 23 October 2009.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESERE

The directors present their annual report together with the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Change of the Company Name

Pursuant to a special resolution in relation to the
proposed change of company name at the special
general meeting held 22 March 2010 and was approved
by the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda and
Hong Kong on 23 March 2010 and on 14 April 2010
respectively, the Company’s name was changed from
China Chief Cable TV Group Limited (Chinese translation
being FEI3CEE AR AF], for identification purpose
only) to Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited and
adopted the Chinese name “Flit ZEZR B R A F]” as the
secondary name of the Company.

Principal Activity and Geographical
Analysis of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 20 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 5
to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
pages 43 to 44.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of change in equity and in note 34 to the
financial statements respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEZERE

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2010, the Company had no distributable
reserves available for distribution to shareholders of the
Company.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 140.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed security of the
Company or any subsidiary during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEZENE

Share Option fE R

1. Share Option Scheme | 1. BREE-—

BREARABRRR _-_ZZT-F=H

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the

shareholders of the Company dated 20 March
2001, a Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme |”) was
adopted by the Company. Details of the Scheme |
are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purposes of the Scheme |

The purposes of the Scheme | are to recognise
the contribution made by the executive
directors and the employees of the Group and
to retain the services of the employees who will
make valuable contribution to the Company.

Participants of the Scheme |

Pursuant to the Scheme [, the Company may
offer to grant share options (“Options 1”) to
any full-time employees (the “Employee”),
including any executive director of the Group,
to subscribe for shares in the Company.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for
Issue under the Scheme |

The maximum number of shares available for
issue under the Scheme | is 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time,
excluding for this purpose from the calculation
of issued share capital (i) any shares issued
pursuant to the exercise of the Options | under
the Scheme | or pursuant to the exercise of
options under any other scheme; and (ii) any
pro rata entitltements to further shares issued in
respect of those shares referred to in (i) above
during a period of 10 consecutive years from
the date of adoption of the Scheme I.
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EEZERE

Share Op’rion (Continued)

1.

Share Option Scheme | (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

No Employee shall be granted an Option |
which, if exercised in full, would result in such
Employee’s maximum entitlement exceeding
25% of the aggregate number of shares of
the Company for the time being issued and
issuable under the Scheme |.

Exercisable Period of Options |

Pursuant to the Scheme |, an Option | may be
exercised in whole or in part in the manner
provided in the Scheme | by a grantee giving
notice in writing to the Company at any time
during a period commencing one year after
the date of grant of the Option I, to be notified
by the Board of the Company to the grantee,
which shall be not less than 3 years nor more
than 10 years from the date an Option | is
offered (the “Offer Date I").

Payment on Acceptance of Option Offer

Pursuant to the Scheme |, a sum of HK$1.00 is
payable by the Employee on acceptance of the
Option | offer.

Basis of Determining the Subscription Price

The subscription price for the shares in relation
to Options | to be granted under the Scheme |
shall be determined by the Board and notified
to an Employee and shall be at least the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)’s daily quotation
sheet on the Offer Date;

BREE

1.

BRESE -

(d)

(e)

(7)

(9)

GEPHEZREIHE

WEBZ2EITEMERRE—2
BRESSREBBANARER
RIS — B BT R BITRMD
BE225%  AIARRAETER
ZEREBRDEMBRE— -

BRE-—ZTER

BIEE— AR ARTHARR
EFgNGARAZE L ERE
—EREBE—FRFE ZHERN B
R A QR EEAA - HKET
gl —Fritz A RITE I K EH
MR EERE-EARER
REERE—-—ERB([XEAH
—DEEFFIE10FRTITHE

BEREREZZEZHE

BIETE— - EE RN ERERE
—EEEFEAM1.00BTZR
I8 o

BEZEEZEE

EFeRAETABRENE —
BT RO ZBRE— 2Rk 2R
BE LHNEREE MRABEA
ELRTIZERRE

(i) BOREHBEHEREE
ERZAERRAB(HR
P& R RERMI W
miE

CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ®isth 22 #ZRBR AR | 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEZENE

Share Op’rion (Continued)
1. Share Option Scheme | (Continued)

(g) Basis of Determining the Subscription Price
(Continued)

(i) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

(h) Remaining Life of the Scheme |
The Scheme | will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years from the date of adoption of

the Scheme I.

The Scheme | will remain valid until 19 March
2011.

No share options were granted under the
Scheme | since its adoption on 20 March 2001.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEZERE

Share Op’rion (Continued)

2.

Share Option Scheme Il

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the
shareholders of the Company dated 2 February
2009, a Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme II”)
was adopted by the Company. Details of the
Scheme |l are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Purposes of the Scheme Il

The purposes of the Scheme Il are to enable
the Company to grant options to the eligible
person as incentive or reward for their
contribution to the growth of the Company or
any subsidiary and to provide the Company
or any subsidiary with a more flexible means
to reward, remunerate, compensate, and/or
provide benefits to the Eligible Person.

Participants of the Scheme Il

Pursuant to the Scheme Il, the Company
may offer to grant share options (“Options
[1”) to any employee, director, supplier of
goods or services, customer of Company or
any Subsidiary; agent, adviser, consultant,
strategist, contractor, sub-contractor, expert
or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support or any valuable
services to Company or any Subsidiary;
shareholder of Company or any Subsidiary or
holder of any securities issued by Company or
any Subsidiary; to subscribe for shares in the
Company.
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Shore Op’rion (Continued) E%Hﬁ*g(%;)

2. Share Option Scheme Il (Continued) 2. BRESE-(F

(c) Maximum Number of Shares Available for (c) REFE-—TRITZREEE L
Issue under the Scheme Il R
The maximum number of shares available RIEGH & — R R R B A fE
for issue under the Scheme Il and any other IREFTEIR BT 2 RN EE - &
share option schemes of the Company must HAGRBARRTRNETE Z B
not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued AEEBITRAZ10% - EF
share capital of the Company as at the date GRNEREEMERE - ABE
of approval of Scheme Il. The Board shall not TERBA S ZRARBRAR
grant any Options which would result in the X B AR A RS S R BB AR (0 BT
maximum aggregate number of Shares which TE M6 3T 2 A ] B b B AR R 5T 1 4%
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding HEEFITEZAERTERER
options granted but yet to be exercised under EEMA TEITZ&EaRNEEE
Scheme Il and any other share option scheme HEBBARATREBITRAZ
adopted by the Company which provide for 30% e
the grant of options to acquire or subscribe for
Shares exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time
to time.

(d) Exercisable Period of Options Il (d) FE=—Z7/TEH
Pursuant to the Scheme I, an Option Il may RIBFTEI = - ARATBHERE
be exercised in whole or in part in the manner HEREER(REBE -
provided in the Scheme Il by a grantee giving FF10F ZHMEA - BERRAR
notice in writing to the Company at any time RIBHEEBA - Kty
during a period not to exceed 10 years from ARATEE MR D ERE= -
the date an Option is offered (the “Offer Date
1.

(e) Payment on Acceptance of Option Offer (e) EWEREZEZZHNE

Pursuant to the Scheme I, a sum of HK$1.00 is
payable by the eligible person on acceptance
of the Option offer.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEZERE

Share Op’rion (Continued)
2. Share Option Scheme Il (Continued)
(f) Basis of Determining the Subscription Price

The subscription price for the shares in relation
to Options Il to be granted under the Scheme Il
shall be determined by the Board and notified
to an eligible person and shall be at least the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)’'s daily quotation
sheet on the Offer Date;

(i) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

(g) Remaining Life of the Scheme II
The Scheme Il will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years from the date of adoption of

the Scheme.

The Scheme Il will remain valid until 2 February
2019.
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Share Op’rion (Continued)

3.

Other Share Option

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on a
special general meeting dated 13 July 2004 and
the successful signing of the Technical Support
Agreement between Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital
Television Broadcast Company Limited (“Hunan
Digital”), a subsidiary of the Company and Hunan
Television Technology Company Limited (“Hunan
TV”), a minority shareholder of Hunan Digital, the
Company has granted an option (“Option”) to Sky
Dragon Digital Television and Movies Holdings
Limited (“Sky Dragon Holdings”), a company owned
by Mr. Feng Xiao Ping, a director of the Company to
subscribe for 30 million shares of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$0.788 per share.

The Option was granted as an incentive for Sky
Dragon Holdings, being a past shareholder of
Hunan Digital to procure Hunan Digital to enter into
the Technical Support Agreement with Hunan TV
(Sky Dragon Holdings had subsequently sold all its
indirect interest in Hunan Digital to the Company
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on a
special general meeting dated 13 July 2004).

On 2 August 2004, the Technical Support Agreement
was signed and the Option is exercisable at any
time in three equal proportion to subscribe the
shares of the Company from February 2005, August
2005 and February 2006 respectively and up until
five years from 2 August 2004.

On 21 June 2007, Sky Dragon exercised 10 million

of the share options and there remained 20,000,000
share options as at 31 March 2009.

On 2 August 2009, the outstanding Option lapsed.
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Share Option (Confinved)

3.

Other Share Option (Continued)

Movement in share options during the year ended

BREE

3. HtblsRmE(E)
RBE_ZT-TE-_A=+—HILHF

31 March 2010 are as follows: ERZBEREZENAT
Number of share options
BhisR
Weighted
average
closing
price
Date Exercise  immediately
At At of grant price of before
Name or 1 April Granted  Exercised Lapsed 31 March of share share exercise
category Option 2009  duringthe  duringthe  during the 2010 options Exercise period options date
of participant type H-BEnE year year year H-E-3F ERE of share options BRE, ZBOEREA
PREERAEN ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂ BA-A $W5&$ FRERR  ERBAN ZAST-B RUAE  BRELARE B <METHYRE
(HKS) (HKS)
(%7 (#71)
Directors
-
Mr. Wong Man Hung Scheme Il — 25,000,000 (25,000,000) - — 1 April 2009 9 March 2009 to 0.125 0.59
Parick itz IFENE 2 February 2019
E ¢S MA-A  ZERpF-AARE
“E-hEZACH
Mr. Feng Xiao Ping—  Other share 20,000,000 - —(20,000,000) — bJanvary 2 August 2004 to 0.788 NIA
corporate interest option 2005 2 August 2009 TR
MTRE-DARE  EbERE “35RF  CTEMENAZRZ
-R1f ZEENENAZR
Options granted in Riga
excess of the fEALR
individual limited ZBRR
Mr. Ko Shang Min Scheme I — 20,000,000 (20,000,000) - — 1 April 2009 9 March 2009 to 0.125 066
fLRRs B EINE 2 February 2019
BA-B  ZEENECANAE
“E-hEZACH
Mr. Wong William Scheme || — 15,000,000 - — 15000000 1 Apri 2009 9 March 2009 o 0125 N/A
EEREE b e 2 k3 2 February 2019 i
BA-B ZEENE-ANAE
“E-NEZACH
Mr. Chang Tk Chun Scheme Il — 20,000,000 (20,000,000) - — 1 April 2009 9 March 2009 to 0.1 045
bl e G ks 2 February 2019
M-8 ZE3NE-ANAZ
“E-NE-AZH
Mr. Ng Kwok Wing Scheme Il — 20,000,000 - — 20,000,000 1 April 2009 9 March 2009 fo 0.1 NIA
Michael EEN ik 2 February 2019 T

mA-B  -EEAEZANEE
“5-NEZAZH
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Share Option (Confinved)

3.

Other Share Option (Continued)

Movement in share options during the year ended
31 March 2010 are as follows: (Continued)

BREE

3.

Hitufg e (E)

REE-F—BF=A=T—ALF
ERZBREZDIT : (&)

Nurber of share options
ERER
Weighted
average
closing
price
Date Exercise  immediately
At At of grant price of hefore
Name or 1 April Granted  Exercised Lapsed 31 March of share share exercise
category Option 2009  duringthe  duringthe  during the 2010 options Exercise period options date
of participant type H-%ENE year year jear H-3-3F ERE of share options BRE. BROKAEN
SRELRIEN ERREH BA-B  ERSRE  EACAR  EAEAN ZA=t-B RERE  BREZGRE i <METHYNE
M
(#7) (%1
Other employees
EES
In aggreqate Scheme |l 8,500,000 —(7,000,000) — 1500000 9 March2009 9 March 2009 to 0.125 0.67
A% iz CEENE 2 February 2019
“ANR CERNECZRARE
“E-hEZACH
Suppliers
k]
In aggregate Scheme I 10,000,000 - - — 10,000,000 9 March 2009 9 March 2009 to 0.125 NA
o HE EINE 2 February 2019 TR
SANR CERNEZRARE
“E-hEZAZH
Consultants
L
In aggregate Scheme I 15,000,000 — (5,000,000) — 10,000,000 9 March 2009 9 March 2009 to 0.125 0.67
a4 G EINE 2 February 2019
ZPAR ZERNEZRARE
ZE-hEZACH
53500000 100,000,000  (77,000,000)  (20,000,000) 56,500,000

The closing price

of the Company’s shares

immediately before the date of approval in Board
resolution and the date on which the options were
granted during the year were HK$0.10 and HK$0.25

respectively.
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Share Option (Confinved)

3.

Other Share Option (Continued)

The directors have estimated the values of the share
options granted during the year, calculated using
the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model
as at the date of grant of the options; significant
assumptions used in the calculation of the values
of the share options are disclosed in note 36 to the
financial statement.

BREE

Hivig e (2)

EROFIA RN E R
DA fe 5 4 POt 2 B RGP 95 1 B R
R (B R R B
BT P 2 A R BE 7 9 K I 2k 36
HE -

Grantee

ARA

Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick
TR E

Mr. Ko Shang Min
] RIS A

Mr. Wong William
mEREE

Mr. Chang Tak Chun
BRiEtE

Mr. Ng Kwok Wing Michael

Category
Hhl

Director

B%

Supplier
AR

Consultants

A

Consultants

A

Employee

(==

Number of options

granted during Theoretical value

The number of share options granted during the
year to Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick, Mr. Ko Shang
Min, Mr. Wong William, Mr. Chang Tak Chun, Mr. Ng
Kwok Wing Michael, exceeded the individual limit of
1% of the shares of the Company then in issue. The
grant of the share options over the limit is approved
by a special general meeting on 1 April 2009.

the year of share options
FRAERBREHAE BREZEREE
HK$

BT

25,000,000 3,625,000
20,000,000 2,900,000
15,000,000 2,175,000
20,000,000 2,900,000
20,000,000 2,900,000
100,000,000 14,500,000

FARTEXMRLE - A EREE
BEERTE  BRELE  REX
EZBERESEBBARAERDH
TRM1% ZEA LR - HHHEB L
ReBREENR _ZTTALFMOA—H
BITZRRERAS LB -
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Directors

The directors during the year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive directors

Mr. WONG Man Hung Patrick
Mr. LAW Kwok Leung

Mr. FENG Xiao Ping

Mr. Stephen William FROSTICK

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro
Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua
Ms. CHAN Mei Bo Mabel
(appointed on 23 October 2009)
Mr. CHANG Carl
(resigned on 24 July 2009)

The directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed under note 41 to the financial
statements, no other contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

EE

FARBEARFREMEETZESNOT :

HITES

FxXHERE
EBIREE
HNFEE
Stephen William FROSTICK 5t 4

BAFHTES

EREIEE

FRERL

REERL
(RZZETZNFTHA-+=HEZE)

RAEE) A
(RZZEZNFELA - THBEEE)

RIEARB MR EFEHESR I
REEBRBS KE L B#EET -

EECRBEN

BREEBFRRAGLEERSEICES
B BN R AR SLAE R A AR — F A
BEOCEERERINMRLLEZRBEEL -

EECZANER

BRI SRR 4 PAREE SN - AT
SEME QR ESETT M IR F
REFRNEAERIDABR  BAEBAS
BE® MARREFTEERIMERAS
BEBRERZIEREGH -
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts (Continved)

Save as disclosed under “Share Option”, at no time
during the year was the Company or its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Biographical Details of Directors

Brief biographical details of directors (including those of
compliance officer of the Company) are set out on pages
12 to 14.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest and
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or
any Associated Corporation

At 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions
of each director and chief executive in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company were as
follows:

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company

Name of directors

ESpS

Mr. WONG Man Hung
Patrick
EHESRAE

Mr. FENG Xiao Ping
HNFEE

BEECENRER®)

BRI B I P IRE &SN - RFREME
@ ARFIHENBARMESET Y E
M2 BERARREFAZREART]
AR E A A A BB D S B S M o

EECERE

EF(AREARRZEREE ) ZEHEFEHN
F12E14H -

ESRFETHRAE
S 1E 7] 48 B 0% B 2 IR
RORBESFZEERAR

R-IZE—ZTF=ZF=+—08 BELAQA
REFLRBEGRN(ESRBEED])
FI2EFEZECMATE KA R AR
M EBEERFETRABEARRREMR
BEE(TRRBHFRBEGRN) 2 &K
HERDEESFTHEE 2 Em AR
T

(a) FAQFBREEO0.O1 BT ZEHER

Personal Corporate Other
interests interests interests

B AR DRER Hittfg#
25,000,000 — —

— 31,718,750 —
(note(a))
(Wit (a))
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest and
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or
any Associated Corporation (Continved)

(a)

(b)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) 31,718,750 shares are held by Sino Unicorn
Technology Limited (“Sino Unicorn”), a company in
which Mr. FENG Xiao Ping has an indirect interest of
51% therein.

Share Option

In January 2005, the Group has granted an option
(“Option”) to Sky Dragon Holdings to subscribe for
30 million shares of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.788 per share. On 21 June 2007,
Sky Dragon Holdings exercised share option to
subscribe 10 million shares of the Company. During
the year ended 31 March 2010, the option lapsed
and there remaining no outstanding share option.

On 1 April 2009, the Group has granted an Option
[l under Scheme Il to Mr. Wong Man Hung, Patrick
(“Mr. Wong”) to subscribe for 25 million shares of
the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.125 per
share. On 22 March 2010, Mr. Wong has subscribed
25 million share under the Scheme Il and there is no
outstanding options held by Mr. Wong.

Save as disclosed above, the directors do not have any
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company.

ESRFETRAERAAF
SAEMAABEE 2 RM - 1858

B REHEZRRE #)

(@ XAFESREEINBTZEBR
(%)

Wit -

(a) Sino Unicorn Technology Limited
(I'Sino Unicorn 1)#7% 31,718,750 k%
- mE/NFEEREREBTZA A S51% K
HE3S -

(b) FBERE

RNZETRF— A AEERKEER
R AT ESR0.788 B LR
#% 30,000,000 f% A~ 1~ &) J& t0 2 B A%
E(IERED RZ2ZEZLEF A
—t+—H - REZRITEBRERE
10,000,000 IR AR RIR& 1D o BEAR MR
HE-_ZT-ZTF-A=+—HILFE
KRB D RITE R AR o

R_ZETZAFWA—RB AEER
Bt —mEXEEE(TELEE])
BHIRTEESRO0.125F TRE
25,000,000 & A8 &~ 8] f& 19 < B AR 1
T RIE—ZTFZA-_+-H L
5 4 B AR & & &) — 3R 88 25,000,000
B m Rk ERESESERTHEER
T o

R EXFEEEIN  EFLERARNREK
DR EBEREEIORE °
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares

of the Company

’ 4
S

S
X
pS

FE
BzEZRXR

i gﬁi%ﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁﬁ&*ﬁ%ﬁ

The register of substantial shareholders maintained

under
2010,

Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 March
the Company had been notified of the following

substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions,

being

5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital.

Number of
shares —
Name of shareholders long position
RO#BE—
S #e
Lee Yuk Lun TEB 219,298,244
Au Yeung Kai Wah BN R 150,625,000
Cyberland (China) Limited B (e ) BRAF
(Note (a)) (B (a)) —
Notes:

(a)

According to the disclosure of interest notices filed to
the Stock Exchange, Cyberland (China) Limited is legally
and beneficially owned as to 45%, 40% and 15% by
Rise Enterprises Limited, Stepwise International Holdings
Limited and Wealth Way Investment Limited, respectively.

Stepwise International Holdings Limited is legally and
beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Shan Xiaochang.

Rise Enterprises Limited is legally and beneficially owned
as to 32.56%, 42.6% and 19.5% by Mr. Shan Xiaochang,
Eagle Bliss Limited and Wu Zhongxin respectively.

Wealth Way Investment Limited and Eagle Bliss Limited
are legally and beneficially wholly owned by Miss
Jingquan Yingzi.

BARRAIRERE 7 NS RDISE 336 (R
FEZIERRETMHAT R-_E—F
FZA=+—8 ®EARAHA - T =E
ERREBARALETRAS% LA L

MR RSA -

Derivative interest
fTEIERER
Percentage of
share capital

Number of to issued

Percentage of shares — capital at
share capital long position 31 March 2010
R-Z-2F

=R=1-H

LEERT

Rtk RO#E— REz
REBEAL #e REEAL
(%) (%)

8.22 — —

5.64 — —

— 2,553,488,312 95.73

(a) MBEMBMIMEZ2FE CEEERBA -
Bi(FBE)BRAREERE=EAR K
REEBRAT SEERERERAT
NRBEEBR AR D 545% - 40% &
15% °

SEERZERERARMERSLLESE
REZZ2EHER

FRREZBR A AFIHEREE LA - Eagle
Bliss Limited R R LD RIEERE =R
H325%  42.6% 2 19.5% °

RERE AR AT K& Eagle Bliss Limited
BHRBEMAGERER2ERE o
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares
of the Company (Conhnued)

Save as disclosed above and “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or
any Associated Corporation”, the Company had no notice
of any interests and short positions to be recorded under
Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2010.

Connected Transactions

Details of the transactions exempt from approval for the
year ended 31 March 2010 are as follows:

Continuing connected transaction

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 41
to the financial statements also constitute continuing
connected transactions under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”), and are exempted from
reporting announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirement in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

FE
% 12

BREXMEZERETBITHRAEBRARFNK
E el 48 F'EJ%@ZHQT% : *Hﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ%‘éz
R MAR ITREEN R T—FF=
ﬂ:+ SRRIVAN/N 7I$meﬂﬁﬁ
H R EHDIE 336 1RAE Ttk 2w M
KA e

BERXZ
BE—F-FF= A=t ALFRER
S R BHEMT

BEBHES

REESHERIMERAFAIZERE
XRDBFHFLEDTARBNAIZER EmR
WD B RARNE41FTIRE 2 BEAL
REGMBEXRTFERERS - %LZX%@
BAIER EMBRAFE20ZEHRRHR -
ERBIIREHRE ZIRTE ©

EEEY

ARARFRAL TR L FEEMNEGREAN
EWREMERBOESH 2 EERIT
BEH -
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Pension Scheme Arrangement

The Group provides a mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for its staff in Hong Kong in compliance
with the requirements under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPF Scheme
Ordinance”). Under the MPF Scheme, the Group’s
contributions are at 5% of the employee’s relevant
income as defined in the MPF Scheme Ordinance up to
a maximum of HK$1,000 per employee per month. The
employees also contribute a corresponding amount to
the MPF Scheme if their relevant income is more than
HK$5,000 per month. The MPF contributions from the
employer are 100% fully and immediately vested in the
employees as accrued benefits once they are paid. All
benefits derived from the mandatory contribution must be
preserved until the employee reaches the retirement age
of 65 subject to a few exceptions. There is no forfeited
contribution that may be used by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contributions. For the year ended 31
March 2010, the employer’s pension cost charged to the
statement of comprehensive income is HK$986,000.

Major Suppliers and Customers
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year

attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
are as follows:

RIASETERH

A EBBCRBIERTESE8GRD( 8]
BastEGl D 2RE  AEEREER
BITRYBHERBEEE([RERA
g RippBEEE  AEEFABE
HRESF GO RE - HEREER
BERABRAS% 2 HR(ERASEBEZEES
H1,000/&7T) - i E BRI A A %5,000
BT E - BIRBMERRE S BIEL
RELBIHK - BX —KIEHBRES M|
R BEHKENRZ2EEARE Z &
MEA o BRHETERBER - o8 B 1EH R
PMEEZMAENmNARBEEREEZG6S
PR RRFEG - AR EILED LU RA
REREBR M ZHFKF - BE_FT—F
FZAZT-HLEHFEE  ftAZEEER
Z B ERIKE XA 986,000/8 T °

TEHREBREF

AEEETEHRERMAEFRBEZAFE
REBEMHEEEAILDT

Purchases ekl
— the largest supplier — EAHER 33%
— five largest suppliers combined — ARHEREE 52%
Sales HE R
— the largest customer — ZAEPF 28%
— five largest customers combined — AREFA&E 87%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the
major suppliers or customers noted above.

BEEF WEZBBALHEMEZHAHM
BEERRARASRIA E 2 RR IS
P FBHERRETS 2 #S o

CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ®isth 22 #ZRBR AR | 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEZERE

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the directors or management shareholders of the
Company (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has an
interest in a business which compete or may compete
with the business of the Group.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee
comprising three independent non-executive directors
and has adopted the terms of reference governing the
authority and duties of the audit committee. The present
members of the audit committee are Mr. Sousa Richard
Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua and Ms. Chan Mei Bo
Mabel. The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control of the Group. Four meetings were held
during the current financial year and the annual results
have been reviewed by the audit committee.

Corporate Governance Report

Corporate governance report of the Company is set out
on pages 34 to 39 of the annual report.

Subsequent Events

Details of the subsequent events of the Group are set out
in note 43 to the financial statements.

Auditors

In April 2009, Hopkins CPA Limited resigned as auditors
of the Company and KL CPA Limited was appointed as
the auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy.

The financial statements have been audited by KL CPA
Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for reappointment at the forcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the board

Wong Man Hung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong 24 June 2010

EEBERZHFRLES

ARMEFRERERRCERRAERE
AR A1) L4 A 5 SR B S P R o
B 2 RS ERS ©

BEREES

ARBEKLEZEZES  KBEEBE=4%
BYFMTES  UCOKRMAREEZZE

CRNLBECBERE FZZEER
RZRER/BHRENEE  FTERERENMR
XELL BREEBGZIEBEREN
REEAREZVWHERBREF RAE
7 BREBERNAMBFEANCEITH
REH  YOBRHEFERE -

EEERRE
ARAZOEEARERRATHEE
398 -

BEMRRER

AEBZREPREETHEFBHNR Y KR
=~MFE43 -

BB

R-ZZTNENA  EHEAMEBEMA
R FIBHEAR R AIAZBED - KOG B2 & 5HED
EBMAERRAREZERAN R BZEED
VAR R BRI 22 R o
MBERREBEESHAMEBMERAA
BiZ o BEGFMEKAERARS W
TR ETAERAMBRN AR A ERER
RAFRERZEE -

REREFS

X
2

B _E-ZTFXAZTHEA
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Compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices

The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and the code provisions
(the “Code”) as set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 15 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The principles adopted by the
Company emphasis a quality board, transparency and
accountability to shareholders. In the opinion of the
Board, the Company has complied with the Code for
the year ended 31 March 2010, with the exception of
the deviation in respect of the appointment term of non-
executive directors as mentioned below.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms as set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have
complied with such code of conduct and the required
standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

4}
4y

&8

©ERE

B

ERA

ARARZEEERRRITNERELH A
R Z AR AR A ERE 7 £ 5 A H 8%
16 2 (bR EVAE A T RIFTEL 2 R A o 57 Al
R (TP RI) AER - ARFPIRAZIR
AIZEREREEE BEHEREBREZ
REE -EFERA ARBAREBE_T
—EF=-A=+—HILFEEEFTA
HEB B TN FATE ST Z RBERR I o

RARIERBIFER EMHRAIE 5485567
BARE G ENERESETESFRS
IR - KMEBESEHARBESR
% SESESREE-_ZTZTF=-A=1-—
HEFEEEFTZTRATARR S WS
EERNAEBRESETELRRH TR
Al o

CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ®isth 22 #ZRBR AR | 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

&R ERRE

Board of Directors

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts, which shall give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. Details of
the basis of preparation of accounts are set out in note
2 to the accounts. The Board is also responsible for
formulating the Group’s long-term strategy, determining
and approving the Group’s significant transactions
and supervising the management to ensure thorough
implementation of the Group’s policies and effective
performance of their duties. Other decisions are to
be delegated to management. As at 31 March 2010,
the Board comprised seven Directors, including four
executive Directors (including the Chairman) and three
independent non-executive Directors. Biographies of the
Directors are set out in pages 12 to 14.

There is no non-compliance with rules 5.05(1) and (2) of
the GEM Listing Rules and there is no relationship among
members of the Board.

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors
should be appointed for specific term. There is no
specific term of appointment of the non-executive
directors of the Company, however, they are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with Bye-law of
the Company. Accordingly the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to dealt with the
requirement in respect of the appointment terms of non-
executive directors as required under the code provision.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines.

EEg

EETNERVUEAE RO F i R AN E 0
BRRZEREWEEE - REREEES
BHEREENF2 - EZEENAEHTEAR
SEZERRRE  RERIEAEECZE
ARXGREREEBUABRKRBERITASE
BrBERERBITERE - Rt RATEHB
ERTEEBE R_E—ZTF=A=+—
H ZEFESHCtHRESFHEK  BEOEH
NTEEREEFR )IR-BBILENTE
E-EEREHNFE12E148 o

B E T AR AR RISE5.05(1) &
@) 21BN > MBEEFSKE 2HINER
(3

RIBETRMEX A4 SERTTES 2R IE
BEEEH ARRZFFATESTLHERE
EEH - ERFARBARRZAE®HFE
TR FAlt > ARARBBERRENER
NESTARXHREARIFRTESEN
ZHTE °

EBUIFATEFTCRIELMMRAESE.09
RELFEBIMEERE - ARARBR -
ERBUFATESTHTRAIRRLETR
AIZE 5.0 RATEL 2B 1E4E5] - BRIESE
5| Z &R TYB B
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Board of Directors (Confinued) BEES®
The Board held a board meeting for each quarter to EEay t TRTEEGERNLERER
approve the Group’s results. Details of the attendance of RE -FEGZHEXRFRBROAT ¢

the Board are as follows:

Attendance
HE=R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Man Hung, Patrick (Chairman) EXEEE(FE) 4/4
Mr. Law Kwok Leung EREREA 3/4
(Chief Executive Officer) (7T A% )
Mr. Feng Xiao Ping HNFERE 3/4
Mr. Stephen William Frostick Stephen William Frostick 754 3/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro B S 2/4
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua TRELLE 4/4
Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mabel PREBER+ 3/3
(appointed on 23 October 2009) (R=ZZZNF A +=AEZE)

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer FERITHER
Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman BETEEXA 21 EEETHREEZA
and chief executive officer are separate and are not EREARED X TEH— ARBRE - =
performed by the same individual. The Chairman is FEAREEBEEFECBERIERARTZ
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board BEFBREE - THREFSBEREEA
and formulating overall strategies and policies of the Bx# BEERAEEZEME ¥
Company. The Chief Executive Officer, supported by WITEERE  FHBABARERSEERE
the senior management, is responsible for managing FIEEE -

the Group’s responsibilities, the business, implementing
major strategies, making day-to-day decisions and
coordinating overall business operations.
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Nomination of Directors

No nomination committee was established by the
Company.

The Board is mainly responsible for identifying suitable
candidates for members of the Board when there is
a vacancy or any additional director is considered
necessary. The Board will review the qualifications of the
relevant candidate for determining the suitability to the
Group on the basis of his qualifications, experience and
background.

Board Committees

To assist the Board in discharge of its duties, the Board
is supported by two board committees. Each committee
has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference
and the committee members are empowered to make
decisions on matters within the terms of reference of
each committee.

(1) Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.28 to 5.30 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to
review the Group’s annual reports, interim reports
and quarterly reports; (b) to discuss and review
with the auditors of the Company on the scope
and findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control
procedures of the Group. The audit committee
consists of all of the Company’s independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Sousa Richard
Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua and Ms. Chan Mei
Bo Mabel. The chairman of the committee is Mr.
Sousa Richard Alvaro.

BEERA

RABWERIBREZES o

EESFEEEBNEEARREERK
REEENMEEMNBIIEETHMAEZES
L -EEERBABAAEZER UK
HER LKRBRESESRATREAESASE
o

E=ZET

RHDEESRTHERE E=ZShmE
EXEZBEeXRK - BRZBEUERBRWR
AHEMBESE MEEENBERE
AEHBRZREERBHEANEE ZRE -

(1) BEXZE®

ARATEETRIER ETRANSES.28
E530GKRIAEERERE ZE
BEREG ERZBGZIERAR
() BHAEBEZFH  PHBELR
FERE - (b) BARF Z % 806D
wmhkmaEREENER D N(c)&E
RAEB M BRRIEF RAEEE
BF - BEZZESHARAEEEL
FRTEFHRTNEE  FEERE
LMREERZLTHEK - ZERTEREH
TS -
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Board Committees (Continved)

(1)

(2)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The audit committee held 4 meetings during the
year under review. Details of the attendance of the
audit committee meetings are as follows:

Members

K&

Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua

Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mabel
(appointed on 23 October 2009)

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results
and audited annual results during the year ended
31 March 2010 have been reviewed by the audit
committee, which is of opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosure have been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee according to the relevant provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules with written terms
of reference. Its primary duties are (a) make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management; and (b) establish a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration.

The remuneration committee consists of all of the
Company’s independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa
Joshua and Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mabel. The chairman
of the committee is Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro.
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Board Committees (Continved)
(2) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

In June 2010, the Committee met to discuss the
remuneration related matters. Mr. Sousa Richard
Alvaro and Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua attended the
meeting. During the meeting, the performance
of executive directors was assessed, and the
remuneration of whom and the policy of which was
discussed and approved.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining
sound and effective internal control to safeguard the
Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests. The Board
has conducted regular reviews on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system during the year,
which covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls as well as risk
management functions and an annual review on the
adequacy of staffing of the accounting and financial
reporting function.

The Board monitors the Group’s progress on corporate
governance practices. Periodic meetings are held, and
circulars or guidance notes are issued to directors
and senior management where appropriate, to ensure
awareness of best corporate governance practices.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement by the auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities is set out in the auditor’s
report on page 40 to 42. During the financial year ended
31 March 2010, the fees paid and payable to auditors
in respect of audit and non-audit services to the Group
were approximately HK$682,000 (2009: 400,000) and
HK$714,000 (2009: 273,000) respectively.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Code Agriculture (Holdings)
Limited

(formerly known as China Chief Cable TV Group Limited)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

{5 B i =55 I A PR 2
KL CPA LIMITED

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as
China Chief Cable TV Group Limited) (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on
pages 43 to 139, which comprise the consolidated and
Company statement of financial position as at 31 March
2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Room 303, Carpo Commercial Building,
18-20 Lyndhurst Terrace, Central, Hong Kong
BB P IREIEHT18-205%
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Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and
to report solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and of the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with HKFRS and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KL CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chi Ming Francis
Practising certificate number: P05323

Hong Kong, 24 June 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

re 2TH W R

For the year ended 31 March 2010 # % =%

Continuing operations

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other revenue

General, administrative and
other expenses

Gain/(Loss) from operations
Finance costs
Other losses, net

Impairment loss of goodwill
and intangible asset

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinuing operations
Loss for the year from

discontinuing operations

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on

translating foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
for the year

2010 ANNUAL REPORT “F35 | Rl ZEZEREBMIR D FH CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

ZE=ZAZ+—HIEFE

YA
HERA
EH

H WA

— ITEREEMER

Hi g R - 8

BERETEERE

&5 18
B TS 5 Al &S 18
FriS i 5 X

RELEEBIFE
E518

RIEEEERS

BRI EEB 2 FE
518

FEEE

Hib2 =
MEBINEBEEZ
PEH =%

FEEEWEERE

Note
Bt

10

12

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
220,796 6,824
(151,172) (2,856)
69,624 3,968
1,210 680
(42,364) (19,878)
28,470 (15,230)
(6,231) (868)
(32,630) (3,258)
(103,810) (4,019)
(114,201) (23,375)
(7,051) —
(121,252) (23,375)
(169,091) (262,765)
(290,343) (286,140)
382 (966)
(289,961) (287,106)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e 2 H W R

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —TF = A=+ HILFE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTTNEF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
M et FET FET
Loss attributable to: AT ATEEERE
Owners of the Company KRBHEE A (269,331) (283,421)
Minority interests LB RS (21,012) (2,719)
(290,343) (286,140)
Total comprehensive income ITATEEZEYKS
attributable to: N
Owners of the Company RARIER A (268,937) (284,387)
Minority interests YRR E S (21,024) (2,719)
(289,961) (287,106)
Basic loss per share EREREE 13
From continuing and REFERKIE
discontinuing operations T (14.20 HK centsj#{l) (33.65 HK cents&{ll)
From continuing operations REFELEED (5.28 HK centsi&fl)  (2.45 HK centsj&{l)
The notes on pages 51 to 139 form an integral part of FH51E139 B 2 MaFAK It ST BHREZ
these financial statements. — &b o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o1& RIS RO 2=

As at 31 March 2010 A== A=A

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payment
Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Current assets

Inventories

Accounts and notes
receivables

Other receivables and deposits

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Asset held for resale

Pledged deposits
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Accounts and notes payables

Other payables and accrued
charges

Amounts due to related
companies

Amount due to a director

Bank and other loans

Tax payable

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

2010 ANNUAL REPORT “F35 | Rl ZEZEREBMIR D FH CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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Note
Bt

17
18
19

22

23
24

25
26

27
27

28

29
29
30

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
213,543 21,546
8,523 —
817,195 81,400
268,940 182,419
1,308,201 285,365
18,753 3,651
331,308 7,772
167,013 38,083
6,916 3,078
2,141 _
135,918 —
192,881 6,976
854,930 59,560
236,080 3,928
30,743 17,598
6,644 6,674

— 6,065
312,227 15,125
7,051 —
592,745 49,390
262,185 10,170
1,570,386 295,535
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o1 | BIIS ROR 2=

As at 31 March 2010 R=% A=+—8”

Capital and reserves RA K f# &
Share capital xS
Reserves ]

EN/NSIE WAL e

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Minority interests DERRE
Total equity B
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Convertible bond Al AR &

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 24 June 2010

On behalf of the board

Wong Man Hung Patrick
EXHE
Director

EF

The notes on pages 51 to 139 form an integral part of
these financial statements.

2010 2009

—E-EF —ETNEF

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

W et FHET FETT

59 26,673 17,593

34(a) 878,178 251,590

904,851 269,183

5,328 26,352

910,179 295,535

32 660,207 —

1,570,386 295,535
HEEFeR T —SF A _t+WBH#E

R R AETI% -
KREFg

Stephen William Frostick

Director

EF

FH51 2139 B 2 WEAK U FEM SRR 2
—EB1n
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B3 %% iR 00 AR

As at 31 March 2010 R=—Z—ZF=H=+—H
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BraE FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥2 - #23 N & G 16 22 26
Interests in subsidiaries FrG b B A Rl 2 #E s 20 1,417,080 591,950
1,417,102 591,976
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables and deposits E #b fE Y 718 R ik & 2,779 5,553
Bank balances RITHETE 92,978 1,287
95,757 6,840
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued H M FE A FRIB
charges EstEH 2,306 538
Net current assets BRBEE 93,451 6,302
Net assets FBEE 1,510,553 598,278
Capital and reserves RAK # &
Share capital A% 33 26,673 17,593
Reserves i 34(b) 823,673 580,685
850,346 598,278
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Convertible bond A 2 R 660,207 —
1,510,553 598,278
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of HEEFER_FT—TFAZTHARE
directors on 24 June 2010 KRR R o
On behalf of the board REEES
Wong Man Hung Patrick Stephen William Frostick
Qi
Director Director
EBEE EE
The notes on pages 51 to 139 form an integral part of FEHS51E19B 2 WAt EHBHREZ
these financial statements. — &5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

M AL B 22 ff’z
et L

For the year ended 31 March 2010 ##E =2 —ZF=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAERARE
Share-based
Merger payment Convertible
Reserve Reserve bonds-equity Minority
Share Share  Accumulated  BHEE Capital WA Exchange  component interests
Capital  Premium Losses (Noieb)  Reserve  AXfER Reserve  WEEEZ  Sublotal YRR Total

B E#ER RMER (M) BAGER
HKSO00  HKSDOD  HKSOMD  HKSOOD  HKSOO
A7 &R TER AL TER

MERE  AERR RS At L Lh
HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOWD  HKSODD  HKSOOO  HKSOW
&R &L TéT TER TER 747

At 1 April 2008 “E5)\ERA-A 4380 185,229 (84,068) (197) - 6,000 676 - 112,020 - 112,020
Issue of shares, BARG - BHRFER
1 of expenses 3,276 104,012 - - - - - - 107,268 - 107,288
lssue of comvertible bond ~ BfrR(ER - = - - - - - 3,459 3,459 - 35,459
Issug of share options fiehiE - - - - - 1,382 - - 1,382 - 1382
Conversion of convertible bond S k5% 9937 322,943 = = = = = (35,459) 27 401 - 297421
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEKEAT - - - - - - - - - 20M 2,071
Exchange differences (Note a) EXZE(Hia) - - - - - - (966) - (966) - (966)
Loss for the year ERER - - (28340) - - - - — (283401 (2719 (286,140)
At 31 March 2009 and k3
1 April 2009 =f=1=H

RZZENE

BA-A 17,593 612,184 (367,489) (197) - 1,362 (290) - 269,183 26,352 295,53
Issue of shares, Bk EARRR

et of expenses 8,310 H4.37 - - - - - - 42637 - 422,631

lssus of convertible bond B ERER = - - - - - O I < 4 1] -4
Issue of share options BkRE = = = = = 14500 = = 14500 = 14500
Lapse of share options BREXY - - - - - (6,000) - - (6,000) - (6,000)
Exercise of share option filpiahE 70 8,895 - - - - - - 9,625 - 9,625
Acquisition of subsiciaries  YERERR - - - - 26,062 - - = 26,062 - 26,062
Exchange diferences (Notea) [E} 28 (Hia) - = = = = = 382 = 382 (12) 310
Loss for the year ERER = - (%931) = = = = - (29331) (21012)  (290343)
At 31 March 2010 N-5-%F

=A=t-H 26,673 1,035,366 (636,620) (197) 26,062 15,862 92 431793 904,851 5,328 910,179
Note: KiaF -

(a) Exchange differences represent adjustments arising on
translation of financial statements of overseas subsidiaries
and an associate.

(b) The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of a
subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company in exchange thereof pursuant to
the Group reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as set out in
the prospectus of the Company dated 26 March 2001.

The notes on pages 51 to 139 form an integral part of
these financial statements.

(a) EXEFEREBIMNBARREERR
MR MELE ZHE

(b) AEBEZAGHREERETKENERR 2K
AHREEARRBBEMREARFR =
EE—F -+ RNBTBZERERM
HAEEN_TZ—F=A_+HZEHA
FRETZIRMEE I ZH -

FE1E139 A M AR FINHRERZ

—&BD e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/__r\ EE,%/)H,E%

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #EZZF

Cash flows from operating
activities
Loss before income tax

Adjustment for:

Share of results of an
associate company

Income tax expenses

Interest expenses

Interest income

Written off of other
receivables

Written down of inventories

Provision for share-based
payment, net

Depreciation and
amortization

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of property,
plant and equipment

Impairment of other
intangible assets

(Gain)/loss on financial

assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Operating profit/(loss) before
working capital change
Decrease/(increase) in

inventories
Increase in accounts
and notes receivable
(Increase)/decrease in other
receivables and deposits
(Decrease)/increase in
account and notes payable
Decrease in other payable
and accrued charges
Decrease in amounts due to
related companies
(Decrease)/increase in
amount due to a director

Cash generated from/(used in)
operations
Interest received
Interest paid

Net cash generated from/

(used in) operating activities
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EiEE e E A2
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FERL,/(3Ehm)
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et
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RN
FRIE R
JERTE S IR
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EWH 8
BERFE

reEEsELE (FA)

ZBEEFE

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
(290,343) (286,140)
— 10,026
7,051 —
6,273 875
(615) (182)
27,642 876
3,995 900
8,500 1,382
11,574 6,043
81,400 235,806
11,770 —
172,140 —
(3,838) 1,482
325,892 257,208
35,549 (28,932)
118,995 (541)
(68,633) (3,876)
(47,880) 44,058
(7,897) 1,532
(17,529) (18,271)
(30) (406)
(6,065) 1,201
6,510 (5,235)
615 182
(6,273) (875)
852 (5,928)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

an\ EE@/)ILE%%

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HILFE

Cash flows from investing BREFEH 2
activities BE&ERE
Purchases of property, plant BEYMX  HaEK

and equipment &
Purchases of film rights g B B
Net cash outflow from WEMB AR ZHE
acquisition of subsidiaries i F R
Proceeds on disposal of fixed HEBEEEZ
assets P15 5018
Investments in an associated BARBA AT
company

Net cash used in investing RETHFAZRS
activities R

Net cash inflow from financing BEEBH 2 RER
activities FE
Bank and other loans raised ﬁﬁ%mHXZfEﬁ&/HJ@

A/TA
Proceeds from issuance of TR 2 TS 518
shares
Proceeds from exercised of TR AR 2 FRS kI8
share option
Contribution by minority BB Am D BRR R
shareholders of subsidiaries AE

Net (decrease)/increase in cashﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁwz

and cash equivalents W), B R
Cash and cash equivalents at fﬁ?ﬂzfﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
the beginning of year ZEY
Translation differences ELEHE
Cash and cash equivalents at FRAZHERELE
the end of year EY
Analysis of balances of cash BERBELZEYWEHZ

and cash equivalents bkl
Bank balances and cash RITEFRE®
Pledged deposits [RGB EYER N

The notes on pages 51 to 139 form an integral part of
these financial statements.

2010 2009
—g-2%F —ERRE

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BraE FET FET
(17,550) (12,545)
— (225)
35 (136,584) (54,626)
48 10
— (4,545)
(154,086) (71,931)

38 42,557 3,409
422,637 7,368

9,625 —

— 2,574

474,819 13,351

321,585 (64,508)

6,976 72,316

238 (832)

328,799 6,976

192,881 6,976

135,918 —

328,799 6,976

FH51E 130 B 2 AKX ZMEHREK 2

—&BD e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE

General Information

The Company is a public listed company
incorporated in Bermuda and domiciled in Hong
Kong with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamiliton HM 11, Bermuda. The Company
has its shares listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Pursuant to a special resolution in relation to
the proposed change of company name at the
special general meeting held 22 March 2010 and
was approved by the Registrar of Companies in
Bermuda and Hong Kong on 23 March 2010 and on
14 April 2010 respectively, the Company’s name was
changed from China Chief Cable TV Group Limited
(Chinese translation being FBI3CEEHFRAR], for
identification purpose only) to Code Agriculture
(Holdings) Limited and adopted the Chinese name
‘R 2 2R ERAR)" as the secondary name of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The Group is principally engaged in the research
and development, manufacture, sales and
marketing, and technical servicing of modern
agricultural technology and products in China.
Its modern tobacco agricultural business covers
extensive aspects, including modified tobacco
leaf, agricultural equipment and machinery, new
energy, nursery greenhouse, fertilizer, pesticide,
biotechnology and related professional services.
Other businesses include the development of digital
television system platform and cordyceps related
business in the People’s Repulic of China (“PRC”).

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
discontinues the operations of provision of pre-
mastering and other media services (“Media
Services”), the provision of audiovisual playout
services (“Playout services”) in Hong Kong, and TV
sales in PRC.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

Impact of new and revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

HKICPA has

issued the following new

standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations that have become effective for
the year ended 31 March 2010:

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 32 and 1

(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008, except
for the amendment
to HKFRS 5 that is
effective for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009

Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in
2009 in relation to
the amendment to
paragraph 80 of HKAS
39

Presentation of Financial
Statements

Borrowing Costs

Puttable Financial
Instruments and
Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

Cost of an Investment in
a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled Entity or
Associate

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —TF = A=+ HILFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

Impact of new and revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)  Improving Disclosures
about Financial

Instruments
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
HK(IFRIC) — Embedded derivatives
Interpretation 9
and HKAS 39
(Amendments)
HK(IFRIC) — Customer Loyalty
Interpretation 13 Programmes
HK(IFRIC) — Agreements for the
Interpretation 15 Construction of Real
Estate
HK(IFRIC) — Hedges of a Net
Interpretation 16 Investment in a Foreign
Operation
HK(IFRIC) — Transfers of Assets from
Interpretation 18 Customers

Other than as further explained below regarding
the impact of HKAS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 8,
the adoption of the above new/revised HKFRSs
had no material effect on the reported results
or financial position of the Group for both the
current and prior reporting periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—SF = A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

HKAS 1 (Revised), Presentation of Financial
Statements

The revised standard affects certain disclosures
of financial statements. Under the revised
standard, the Statement of comprehensive
income, the Statement of financial position
and the Cash Flow Statement are renamed as
the “Statement of Comprehensive Income”,
the “Statement of Financial Position” and the
“Statement of Cash Flows” respectively. All
income and expenses arising from transactions
with non-owners are presented under the
“Statement of Comprehensive Income”; while
the owners’ changes in equity are presented in
the “Statement of Changes in Equity”.

Except for certain presentational changes
as a result of adopting HKAS 1 (Revised),
comparative figures have been restated or
included in these financial statements in
order to achieve a consistent presentation.
The statement of financial position, previously
known as statement of financial position, at the
beginning of the year of 2009 has not been
presented as there were no changes to the
originally published statement.

HKFRS 8, Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14, ‘Segment
Reporting’. The new standard requires a
‘management approach’, under which segment
information is presented on the same basis
as that used for internal reporting purposes.
In addition, the segments are reported in a
manner that is more consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. Due to the adoption of HKFRS
8 during the current year, certain comparative
amounts have been reclassified to conform with
current year’s presentation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZE T —Z 4= A=+

HiEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

Impact of issued but not yet effective Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not early applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations that have been issued but are
not yet effective.

Amendment to HKFRS 5
as part of Improvements
to HKFRSs '

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs
2009 °

Classification of Rights
Issues *

Eligible Hedged Items '

HKAS 32 (Amendments)
HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment

Transactions *

HK(IFRIC) — Prepayments of a
Interpretation 14 Minimum Funding
(Amendments) Requirements °

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures °

Consolidated and
Separate Financial
Statements '

Business Combinations '

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ’

Distributions of Non-cash
Assets to Owners '

HK(IFRIC) —
Interpretation 17

HK(IFRIC) —
Interpretation 19

Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with Equity
Instruments °
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Impact of issued but not yet effective
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009 and 1 January, 2010, as
appropriate.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 February 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may
affect the Group’s accounting for business
combinations for which the acquisition dates
are on or after 1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised)
will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary. Changes in the Group’s ownership
interest that do not result in loss of control of
the subsidiary will be accounted for as equity
transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #EZZF

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

£ 4

H=H

HiEFE

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

Impact of issued but not yet effective
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

The amendment to HKAS 17 made under
“Improvements to HKFRSs 2009”, mandatory
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010, removes the specific guidance
which stated that land held under a lease
should be classified as an operating lease
unless title to the land is expected to pass
at the end of the lease term. It provides new
guidance which indicates that entity should use
judgment to decide whether the lease transfers
the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the land in accordance with the criteria set
out in HKAS 17. The Group will reassess the
classification of land elements of unexpired
leases at the date it adopts the amendment on
the basis of information existing at the inception
of the lease and recognise a lease newly
classified as a finance lease retrospectively
if the criteria of a finance lease is met. If the
information necessary to apply the amendment
retrospectively is not available, the Group will
recognise the related asset and liability at
their fair values on the date of adoption and
recognise the difference in retained earnings.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the potential impact of other
new/revised HKFRSs and the directors so far
concluded that the application of the other new/
revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the results and the financial position of the
Group.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated accounts include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 March each year.

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are those entities in which the
Company, directly or indirectly, controls
the composition of its board of directors,
controls more than half of its voting power
or holds half of the issued share capital
or has power to govern its financial and
operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statement of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with
those adopted by the Group.

All significant intercompany transactions
and balances within the Group are
eliminated on consolidation.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, the interests in subsidiaries
are carried at cost less provision for
impairment losses. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of Consolidation (Continued)

(ii) Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over
which the Group has significant influence
but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associated companies are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting
and are initially recognised at cost.
The Group’s investments in associated
companies includes goodwill (net of any
accumulated impairment loss) identified on
acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associated
companies’ post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, and
its share of post-acquisition movements
in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associated companies equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the
associated companies.
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2. EESTBERBE )

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of Consolidation (Continued) (b) ZEREEEE)

(ii) Associated companies (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between
the Group and its associated companies
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associated companies.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associated
companies have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position the investments in associated
companies are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. The
results of associated companies are
accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZ—ZF = A=+
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill

In accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business
Combination”, goodwill arising on acquisitions
is recognized as an asset and reviewed for
impairment at least annually or more frequently
if there are indications that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Any impairment is
recognized immediately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and is
not subsequently reversed. HKFRS 3 requires
that, after reassessment, any excess of the
acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of the
business combination should be recognized
immediately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. HKFRS 3 prohibits the
recognition of discount on acquisition in the
statement of financial position.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the profit and loss
is calculated by reference to the net assets at
the date of disposal including the attributable
amount of goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to and
assessing the performance of the group’s
various kinds of business and geographical
locations.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Segment reporting (Continued)

In accordance with the Group’s internal
financial reporting structure, the Group
has determined that business segment be
presented as the primary reporting format and
that geographical segment as the secondary
reporting format. The Group’s operating
businesses are structured and managed
according to the nature of their operations and
products.

In respect of geographical segment reporting,
sales are based on the country in which the
customer is located and total assets and capital
expenditure are where assets are located.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognized as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Company and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZ—ZF = A=+

HiEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

()

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements  10% or lease term,
whichever is the shorter

Plant and machinery 20%

Furniture, fixtures and 20%
equipment

Motor vehicles 10%

The assets’ residual values and useful life are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss has two sub-categories: financial assets
held for trading, and those designated at fair
value through profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term or if so designated by
management. Derivatives are also categorised
as held for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are
classified as current assets if they are either
held for trading or are expected to be realised
within 12 months of the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZZ—ZF = A=+

HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Realised and unrealised gains and losses
arising from changes in the fair value of the
“financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” category are included in the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit and loss does not include any dividend
or interest earned on these investments.

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are
measured on initial recognition at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impaiment annually either
individually or at the cash-generating unit
level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues
to be supportable. If not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HILFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Po|icies (Continued)

(g) Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

(i) Club membership

Club membership is stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Club
membership is amortised over the period
of the membership.

(ii) Film rights

Film rights acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses.
The cost of film rights is amortised on a
systematic basis over the licence period.

At the end of each reporting period, both
internal and external market information
are considered to assess whether there is
any indication that film rights are impaired.
If any such indication exists, the carrying
amount of such assets is assessed and
where relevant, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the asset to its
recoverable amount. Such impairment
losses are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

(iii) Patent and License

Patent and License with indefinite useful
life are recognized initially at fair value,
which are tested for impairment annually
individually. Such intangible assets
are not amortized. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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A=+

HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(9)

(h)

(M

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

(iv) Technologies

Purchased Technologies are stated at
cost less any impairment losses and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Inventories

Inventories other than agriculture products
which are measured in accordance with the
accounting policy for “biological assets” are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost calculated on the standard cost
basis for raw materials and first-in, first-
out basis for finished goods, comprises their
respective invoiced cost. Net realisable value
is determined on the basis of anticipated sales
proceeds less estimated selling expenses.

Accounts and notes receivable

Accounts and notes receivables are recognized
initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of accounts, notes
and other receivables is established when there
is objective evidence that the Company will not
be able to collect all amounts due according to
the original terms of receivables. The amount
of the impairment is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the effective interest rate. The amount of the
provision is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZ—ZF = A=+

HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

()

(k)

(U]

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They arise when the Company provides
money, goods or services directly to a debtor
with no intention of trading the receivable.
They are included in current assets, except for
maturities greater than 12 months after the end
of the reporting period. These are classified as
non-current assets. Loans and receivables are
included in other receivables, prepayments and
deposits in the statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in
hand, deposits held at call with banks, other
short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and
bank overdrafts.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company
has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is probably that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #EZZF

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

£ 4

A=+

HiEFE

(m) Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the
carrying amounts of assets are reviewed to
determine if there is any objective evidence
of impairment on the value of assets. If
the estimated recoverable amount of an
asset is less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment loss is treated
as an expense unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount under another accounting
standard, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease under that
other accounting standard.

An impairment loss is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimate used to
determine the recoverable amount of an asset.
A reversal of impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss had
been recognised in prior years. A reversal of
impairment loss is treated as an income, unless
the assets is carried at a revalued amount
under another accounting standard, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase under that
other accounting standard.

Significant financial difficulty of the debtor,
default or delinquency in payments, significant
changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor, probability that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost are considered
objective evidences of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZZ—TF = A= +—HILFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(m) Impairment (Continued)

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortization and are tested for
impairment annually or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

(n) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. Provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of reporting period.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Company operate defined contribution
provident schemes in Hong Kong. The
schemes are funded through payments to
trustee-administered funds, determined
by periodic actuarial calculations. A
defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Company pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The
Company has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if
the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior
periods.

For defined contribution plans the
Company pays contributions to publicly
administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Company has no further
payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A= +—HIFE

2. EESTBERBE )

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(n) Employee benefits (Continued) (n) EE®RE)

(iii) B3 BEZ#HE

(iii) Share-based compensation

The Company operates an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan. The fair
value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets). Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting period, the
Company revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to
become exercisable. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the statement of comprehensive
income, and a corresponding adjustment
to equity over the remaining vesting
period.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZ—ZF = A=+

HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(0)

(p)

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realized or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilized.

Revenue recognition

(i) Revenue from the sale of goods is
recognised on the transfer of ownership at
the point of sales.

(i) Revenue from the provision of pre-
mastering and other media services
is recognised when the services are
rendered.

(iii) Revenue from the provision of audiovisual
playout services is recognised when the
services are rendered.

(iv) Revenue from the provision of TV
digitalisation related service is recognised
when the services are rendered.

(v) Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis, taking into account the
principal amounts outstanding and the
interest rates applicable.
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A=+

SN

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(q) Translation of foreign currencies

(r)

()

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements
are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies
are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the
risks and rewards of ownership are retained by

the lessor are classified as operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) are
expensed in the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

(s) Related Parties

(t)

For the purpose of these financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group
if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly
or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, to control the Group or
exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating
policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to
common control;

(iii) the party is an associated company of
the Group or a joint venture in which the
Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or its parent, or a
close family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(v) the party is a close family member of a
party referred to in (i) or is an entity under
the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals.

Biological assets

Cordyceps-related products are measured
at their fair values less estimated point-of-
sale costs. The fair value of cordyceps-related
product is determined by referring to the
market-determined prices. Gain or loss arising
on initial recognition of cordyceps at fair value
less estimated point-of-sale is dealt with in the
statement of comprehensive income when it
arises.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE

2. EESTBEBE )

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
(u) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of
the Group’s business, the operations and cash
flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is part
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when the
operation is abandoned.

Financial Risk Management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
accounts and notes receivables, certain other
receivables and deposits, bank balances and
cash, accounts and notes payables, certain other
payables and accrued charges, bank and other
loans and amount due to related companies.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(u) DRIEKEETE

ERIEREXHEDHAKEREZ
—H#fn - HEEMAERE A H
AEEREMEBFERS - AR
XEREBIMRED 2B
TEXRB  MER/RLE—REE
BB D 2 BLEBEERZ
BE—GE5E 80 LA
MEABEMKREZMBRR -

B E T A AREL
SHEBZREWRT)  AInE
RERUIEREERR - THEEZ
%R BARFEBIE2ERE
AR RT

MEEREERZEREXK

AEBZET2MH T ABREERER
RERE & THMERKEARR
T ROTEFEERE  BARKEE
B A THMENFBAELEFER -
RITREMETARENEERRZ
BB - ZEMHBITAZFBERE/N
AR - BZENBTABRZAE
@ ARORE % ER R 2 BRI
T EEBHZERERETEERE
2 BERUAEERBERZTAETE

SR

7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5% ¥R 3R B AT

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —TF = A=+ HILFE

3. Financial Risk Management objectives 3. MBEBEEEEREXK
and po|icies (Continued) (&)

(a) Credit risk (a) EERR

The credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivable. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without
taking account of any collateral held is
represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the statement of financial
position after deducting any impairment
allowance.

The ageing analysis of accounts receivables
that are neither individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired are as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired RiBEA R AR RE
Past due but not impaired: BB M AR RE ¢
Within 6 months 618 A K

Between 7 and 12 months 721218 A

Over 1 year FEE1F

Receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to a wide range of customers
for whom there was no recent history of default.

EERRE 2 h N E KRR
B EEBABEERR M
EEERRDRFEEEFELE
2o AEE—RAEREFHE
B e

WA REMFEZER @ - =5
ERzemRRASEEREE
FORR E DR E B R R R B TSR
RZEEHEE

3 4 18 5l B KRR EAS & IRE 2
FEM BR R 2 BRI DATIA T

2010 2009
—g-¥F —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
300,110 5,612
2,616 2,160
2,444 —
1,764 —
6,824 2,160
306,934 7,772

KB M AR Z FE YR IR B R
ZUWEAMRALBEZEFE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZZ—ZF = A=+

HIEFE

3. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to a number of independent
customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the
risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt
obligations with floating interest rates. In the
opinion of the directors, the Group has no
significant concentration of interest rate risk
other than the Group’s bank and other loans
disclosed in note 30.

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates on that portion of loans and borrowings,
after the impact of hedge accounting. With
all other variables held constant, the Group’s
result is affected through the impact on floating
rate borrowings, which has only an immaterial
impact on the Group’s equity as follows:

31 March 2010
HKD BT
HKD BT

BERREEBEERBUE

()

(a)

(b)

—g-BF=A=1—8

FERBR(E)

8 E 4 o (B 2 M 0
% AN AEBEE R I EELH
CBUEFEM - BEBAS

%’EEFWG’EKEEE%
WEBANEE - HERIDARR

AR 2 ERE ﬁﬂﬁﬁh#m
BRI R E R - NEBE IR
AERBBFTEETAERR -

) = /& B

MERRTDERT A AFESR
*Xﬁﬁ/}milmi%%”?&%@ﬁ
BB 2B o AREEE TS
MESFRBRETZHAEE
FERHABEBETEM - EER
B BRWEIIOERE ZAEER

TREMERIN  AEEXES
REFZHRRER
FIEHBE

TRETAEEHZINDERK
BRI R A2 g 8 2 B
F( At ET 2 HE) o R
RATE RS RIE KRR

BzXEEBHTEREZRE
XY E HEHUAKERZBK

RTFEAZFE -

Increase/ Effect on
decrease in profit
basis points before tax

E g HERBL A
e 2, B 2R
RMB’000

AEET T

+5% (539)
-5% 539
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5% ¥R 3R B AT

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZ—ZF = A=+

HIEFE

3. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, as the
Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
or liabilities, the Group’s result and operating
cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rate (see note 30 for
details of these borrowings).

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
in order to mitigate its exposure associated
with fluctuations relating to interest cash flows.
However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other necessary
actions when significant interest rate exposure
is anticipated.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency
exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or
purchases in currencies other than the Group’s
functional currency. Approximately 94% (2009:
26%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency
of the operating units making the sale,
whilst almost 94% (2009: 53%) of costs are
denominated in the Group’s functional currency.

The Group does not enter into any hedging
instruments.

BERREEBEERBUE

()

(b)

(c)

FEEBR(E)

RBE-_FTTNF=A=+—H
LFFER ARAKELEEX
AEEERRE BMAKREZE
BRREBRSNEARLEBIRN
MmN EES(FEREREEL
A5 F2HMES30)

7R 5 [ 3 % {5 R A ) M) R b H A
B E B SRS RB M 2K
ZRk - BR  EEESEER
KER - SRHABEANXER
B @EREMMETE -

SN R B

AEERERHEKRR - B
BB Ty B AR SR B T RE & E LA
SNz BEETEEMEL - A%
E£94% (ZZTZTNF : 26%)
ZHEN KRB AEHEEZD
BEEW AN B TIE - MR
94% (ZZFZTNF : 53%) 2K
RAKREEZ NREEHETIE o

REBEWETEEHPTH -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A= +—HIFE

3. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the
sensitivity at the end of the reporting period
to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s loss before income tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity.

BERREEBEERBUE

2010 —E—®fF

If RMB weakens against fi ARMHET
HK$ BRE

If RMB strengthens AR HE T
against HK$ HE

2009 —ETNF

If RMB weakens against i AR H BT
HK$ A

If RMB strengthens against fii A R H BT

HK$

THE

(%)
(c) MR (E)
TRETERKRTAE MBS
N RNEBZRAEHAIER
(AE%EERBBZATESR
MEL) RAEEZ RN R
EHREARBEE Z SIER] 8L
BT WHE -
Increase
(decrease)
in profit
Increase before Increase
(decrease) income tax (decrease)
in RMB rate BR P18 B Al in equity
ARMER 2 38 hn FEZ N
£H (NER) (m2) (R 2)
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(5) (22,106) (22,106)
5 23,212 23,212
(5) (4,161) (4,161)
5 4,369 4,369
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE

3. Financial Risk Management Objectives
cmd Po|icies (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

Management of the Group aims to maintain
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and

3. MBEKBEEEZERBE

(%)
(@) HBESAR
AREEEBERNEBER LA

AEERE  #RARRAE LR
THEEMARAIBAZES © N

have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities to meet its

commitments.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial
l[iabilities, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

JE A ELERHE o

AEBZEBABEAHRR
NRZBIRBERDT

2010 —E-Bf
On Within in 1 to
demand 1 year 2 years Total
BER 1FRA 1E25F Wet
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
Bank and other BT REAM
loans B — 312,227 — 312,227
Accounts and EFERRR
notes payables =g — 215,035 21,045 236,080
Other payables Hbh A RE
and accruals REER — 2,798 27,945 30,743
— 530,060 48,990 579,050
2009 —ETNF
Bank and other RIT R E A
loans =578 — 15,125 — 15,125
Accounts and JERTBR I
notes payables E S — 3,928 — 3,928
Other payables H fth e 5878
and accruals N IEETE A — 17,598 — 17,598
— 36,651 — 36,651
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE

3. Financial Risk Management Objectives
ond Po|icies (Continued)

(e) Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital
management is to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain
healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximize shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it, in light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended
31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009.

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgments

The key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

BHEREERERERBE
(%)

(e) BEAXEE

AEEEAEEZ T ERERRF
EAKBERNELE 2 Mg
REZEARLE - UXFHER
K ERRES AN 2

AEBAREERAE S MERE
EZRBRE  BEEERER
REEFEHRE - BERFHFE
BARE - ANEEA AR AR
REMNZEE  MEREEER
HBITHRG AEBEYEZE
SN AN 2 B AR KRIR G &
EE-TF=-A=1t—HkZ
ZENF=ZA=+—HILFE "
WERBIR  BERIBEFELE
fa] 24 »

FRBRZEEREILRARERRG
TR ER At E ERIR(EE
BEYTEMBRFEEZEERARBZ
FEEHBEANEAR Z2ERRER)
AN o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HlZ =T —Z4

A=+

HIEFE

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairment assessment of property, plant
and equipment and other intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and other
intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and identified
impairment losses. Property, plant and
equipment and other intangible assets are
evaluated for possible impairment on a
specific asset basis or in groups of similar
assets, as applicable. This process requires
management’s estimate of future cash flows
generated by each asset or group of assets.
For any instance where this evaluation
process indicates impairment, the relevant

asset’s carrying amount is written down to the
recoverable amount and the amount of the
write-down is charged against the results of
operations.

Provision for impairment of receivables

Significant judgement is exercised in the
assessment of the collectability of accounts
receivables from each customer. In making
its judgment, management considers a wide
range of factors such as results of follow-
up procedures, customers’ payment trend
including subsequent payments and customers’
financial position.

4. BRESTHETTRERE)

(a)

(b)

M BBERRBUAREMER
EEZRENME

P - HEs KR A B M
BERKANRBITERE H
BB ERBRIIM - X - HHE K
R A R Bt BB B & R AY
i LA EEEXRBEE
AR (nE R ) R A R BERIE © It
BFrR2ElEfFSEERE
EERNMELEZ RKRATRE °
R EREFERLERRE A
#5451 B B < B T M ORI TR
Bl £ 5 - Mo BEAIREE

EWRERERE

ERTEREEEPRAEAE
HEEHE o REL AR - &
BEREE#ZAE - MERER
FER  BFZNXEBREBEE
BZNRREPZHBAMR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE

4. BRSFTHTREBR®)

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgments (Continued)
(c) Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimated of
the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of these cash flows.

(d) Fair value of biological assets

The Group’s management determines the
fair value of cordyceps-related products with
reference to the market-determined prices,
and growing conditions, costs incurred and
expected yield. Should these assumptions
be changed, there would be changes to the
carrying amount of the biological assets.

Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment
Information

The Group is principally engaged in the research
and development, manufacture, sales and
marketing, and technical servicing of modern
agricultural technology and products in China.
Its modern tobacco agricultural business covers
extensive aspects, including modified tobacco
leaf, agricultural equipment and machinery, new
energy, nursery greenhouse, fertilizer, pesticide,
biotechnology and related professional services.
Other businesses include the development of digital
television system platform and cordyceps related
business in the People’s Republic of China and the
provision of pre-mastering and other media services,
the provision of audiovisual playout services in Hong
Kong.

(c) BHERE

AEEELEEFEETREEER
B EBErTEEfEHRRERY
BOoEBBZREELEMNZE
REEEL AR - A EREE
BRAEEHKRERCELEM
ZEHAKR S REME LA
WARBESE T RRFELTF
BengziE -

(d) £¥MEEZRFE

AEHEBESEMERLE
WOR B A AR R TR R
BRIt RAESABESZAT
- WRSBRURED - 20
AE2 REESERED -

5 WA~ Hiblk AR 7 S E#

AEEEZRFHENERARCHER
MkEmMIAELAE  LE HE
Ko T 35 HE [ Mg BR %5 o ELIR ALK
EMERBEEER SR RE T
I - BHERBREW - R B
EORE - ER - RBE - AWM R
HEEXRS - HMXBEERHE
ARKNMBEZERBBERRG TR
X BEERBRY  URRBERE
1R 3 hiv A1 2 B2 4E B L4 5K A8 AR 7% Ko B2
HEFHEBIRTS ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment 5. WA ~ Hft A K 5 FH &R

Information (Continved) (%)
An analysis of the Group’s Revenue and other AEERFEREFELE REILL
revenue for the year, for both continuing and EEBIZWRAREMPASITAT

discontinuing operations, are as follows:

The Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZTThEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue N
Continuing operations FECEET
Sales of agricultural machinery HE B VERE M 102,505 —
Sales of fertilizer 55 & e A 110,543 —
Provision of TV digitalisation REERB LB RS 1,142 593
related services
Sale of cordyceps-related HEILLREERBPER 6,606 6,231
product
220,796 6,824
Discontinuing operations IS T
Provision of pre-mastering and RHGIRATHARE REAM 14,484 16,334
other media services AR5
Provision of audiovisual playout R BB ARS 4,890 4,070
services
Direct television sales BEEBHRIEE 563 1,513
19,937 21,917
Total Revenue g A 240,733 28,741
Other revenue Hbug A
Interest income FEHA 615 172
Others HAi 595 508
1,210 680
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment
Information (Continved)

Primary report format — business segments

The Group is organised into seven main business
segments:

— Sales of agricultural machinery;

— Sales of fertilizer;

— Provision of TV digitalisation related services
— development of digital set-top boxes and
the system platform for digital TV network and
provision of digitalisation related technical
support services;

— Sale of cordyceps-related product.

— Provision of pre-mastering and other media

services — include editing, authoring and
digitalisation of audiovisual data processes;

— Provision of audiovisual playout services on
audiovisual data; and

— Direct television sales;

2010 ANNUAL REPORT “F35 | Rl ZEZEREBMIR D FH CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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— ERR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment 5. WA ~ Hft AR 5 FH&E R
Information (Continved) (%)
Primary report format — business segments FESHRAIX — ¥R (&)

(Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s segment information AEERAFREFEEBREMS 2
for the year by principal activity and market is as DEER DT

86

follows:

Revenue
Segment results

Unallocated income
Unallocated expenses

Profitfloss from
operations
Finance costs
Other losses, net
Impairment net loss
of goodwill and
intangible asset

Loss before income tax
Income tax expenses

Loss for the year

A
pEE

RARSA
FAEER

fizit/ER

EER 58
BEREYAR
ZHBER

i

hERAER
HERRR

FRER

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-2-REZACT-ALER

Continuing operations Discontinuing operations
FRELER RrEezn
Provision of Provision of
v Sale of premastering
digitalisation  cordyceps- and other  Provision of
related related media  audiovisual

Sales of services product services playout Direct

agricultural Sales of REER #E RESK services  felevision
machinery fertilizer HETANS £ 31 1 Total  HERER Rt sales Total ~ Consolidated
HERERR HEEH HBRE HBER gt GERBER  YEERBR  ERERaE it g2
HKS 000 HKS§'000 HKS 000 HKS§'000 HKS 000 HKS§'000 HKS 000 HK§'000 HKS 000 HK$'000
7&i 7 7En i Tén TEn Tén 7&r 7 7&r
102,509 110,543 1,142 6,606 220,796 14,484 4,890 563 19,937 240,733
33,438 23,356 (4,986) 1,508 53,316 2,504 (3,920 (9,046) (10,462) 42,854
1,210 1 1,211
(26,056) (1919) (27,975)
28470 (12,380) 16,09
(6,231) ) (6.273)
(32,630) (6,939) (39,569)
- - (110) (103,700) (103,810) - (1,030) (148,700) (149,730) (253,540)
(114,201) (169,091) (263,292)
(7,051) - (7,081)
(121,262) (169,091) (290,343)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZE T —ZF = A=+

HIEFE

5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment 5. WA HtblR AR B S ER
Information (Continved) (#)
Primary report format — business segments FESHRAIX — ¥R (&)
(Continued)
Provision of Provision of
v Sale of  premastering
digitalisation  cordyceps- and other  Provision of
related related media  audiovisual
Sales of services product services playout Direct
agricultural Sales of RUER HE RUEBEK services  television
machinery fertilizer 7t K%EFE AHEER R sales  Consolidated
BERERA HERS RERH REER RUEERE FERMEE ERERHE ka
HKS§°000 HKS$'000 HKS’000 HKS'000 HKS*000 HKS$°000 HKS'000 HK$000
Fér Fér 71 7 Fir Fér Fér Fér
Statement of financial ~ BE#RRAR
position
Segment assets HEE 464,357 337,683 4,689 57,823 1,191 21 102 867,966
Unallocated assets ROMEE 1,295,165
Total assets BEE 2,163,131
Segment liabilties P 206,186 42,390 14,988 20,485 2,061 243 4,755 291,108
Unallocated liabiities ~ AAEEE 961,844
Total liabilties gafk 1,252,952
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-S-FEZA=T-ALER
Continuing operations Discontinuing operations
FRBEER frEggn
Provision of Provision of
v Sale of premastering
digitalisation  cordyceps- and other  Provision of
related related media  audiovisual
Sales of services product services playout Direct
agricultural Sales of REER #E RESK services  television
machinery fertilizer g7 148EE Totd  AHEER Rt sales Total ~ Consolidated
HEHERA BERR HEEE HEER gt RHSERE  PERMRY  ERsRes 3t &
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
7E 72 iZ:23 72 773 72 773 &R 774 73
OTHER INFORMATION ~ £ft &R
Capial expenditue~ BFER 2013 5,966 430 167 16,086 u8 194 92 1,404 17,490
Unallocated capital ~~ KAREAFR
expenditure 60
Total capital expenditure  BERFER 17,550
Depreciation i 763 1,150 1,382 1520 4,815 489 489 840 1818 6,633
Unallocated depreciation AAEHE 12
6,755
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment 5 WA~ Hitti KA R D HEH
Information (Continved) (%)
Primary report format — business segments FESHRAIX — ¥R (&)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009
BECTENFACT-ALER

Continuing operations Discontinuing operations
REOEEH BIHEERE
Provision of Provision of
v Sale of premastering
digitalisation ~ cordyceps- and other  Provision of
related related media  audiovisual
services product services playout Direct
Rt HE RESR services television
ERgTI  HREEE Total  HEEER Rtk sales Total  Consolidated
BERH BEER ar  EnEERE  YERNRE EESRES fa3t s

HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  RKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKS000
i i TEL TAT TAL TAT i i

Revenue WA 593 6,231 6,824 16,334 4,070 1513 21917 28,74
Segment results Hxk (6,621) 3912 (2,709) 1,603 (7431) (11559) (17,387) (20,09)
Unallocated income APRMA 508 40 548
Unallocated expenses ~ APEER (13,029) (3,598) (16,627)
Loss from operations ~ EEE# (15,230) (20,945) (36,175)
Finance costs HARK (868) ) (875)
Other losses, net EtEiR 58 (3,258) = (3,258)
Share of loss of an FlEBEAAEE

associated company - - - - - (10,026) (10,026) (10,026)
Impairment loss of EEHERE

gooduil - (4019) (4019) - — (31781) (231787 (235806)
Loss before income tax ~ BRETEHAIEE (23375) (262,765) (286,140)

Income tax expenses  FiERET - — -

Loss for the year FEEE (23375) (262,765) (286,140)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE
5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment 5 WA~ Hitti KA R D HEH
Information (Continved) (#)
Primary report format — business segments FESHRAIX — ¥R (&)
(Continued)
Provision of Provision of
v Sale of  premastering
digitalisation cordyceps- and other Provision of
related related media audiovisual
services product services playout Direct
fet #HE AL B services television

RAR% TLBEE AIEEUER R __sales  Consolidated

REAR% RlER HbEERE PERRRE  EREREE )

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$:000

AT TET AT TET TET AT
Statement of financial Bt %
position

Segment assets PFEE 12,950 124,690 1,288 2,275 107,205 248,408
Unallocated assets KOREE 96,517
Total assets BEE 344,925
Segment liabilities PHEE 22,972 6,465 3,417 334 5,120 38,308
Unallocated liabilites  RAREE 11,082
Total liabilities BEE 49,390

For the year ended 31 March 2009
BECTTNFAT-ALER

Continuing operations Discontinuing operations
REIEZH RIHEEER
Provision of Provision of
v Sale of premastering
digitalisation ~ cordyceps- and other  Provision of
related related media  audiovisual
services product services playout Direct
Rt il REER services  television
ERAT  MtREEE Toal  HEZER Rt sales Total  Consolidated
BERS BBER g EnRERE  PERNRE  EERSRHE &3t gA

HKSO00  HKSO00  AKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKS000
T&x TEx TEL TAT TAT TAT T&L i

OTHER INFORMATION ~ Kft&H

Capil expendiee AR 264 6,074 6,338 1,121 1,048 4243 6412 12,750

Unallocated capital RAREARY
expenditure 20
Total capital expenditure  £&AFR 12,110
Depreciation i 3,675 240 3,915 806 806 443 2,055 5970
Unallocated depreciation  £EHE 66
6,036
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ=Z—ZF = A= +—HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment
Information (Continved)

Secondary report format — geographical
segments

The Group’s seven business segments operated in
two main geographical areas:

— Hong Kong — provision of pre-mastering
and other media services and provision of
audiovisual playout services;

— PRC — sales of agricultural machinery,
fertilizer, development of digital television
system platform and provision of related
services, sales and rental of set-top boxes,
development of program database, design and
manufacture of digital television equipment and
facilities, direct television sales and sale of
cordyceps-related products.

5 WA~ Ett AR 7 HEF

()

REZBHX — HED I

REELREBD BN MEET 2

@A

B — RHSRATHARIERE
fth £ 88 AR 75 R IR %2 B 18 UR
7%

FE — SHEMEER - R
FREBBERZR T A RRHME
BAIRTS - SHERHLHEKIAR - 7
ERRABIBE - R REERS
ERRELRE  BRERHEE
MEEILLXBEEREER °

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZH=-A=1+—-HLEE

Segment Segment Capital

Revenue results assets expenditure

WA DEEE PHEE BEAXRRX

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FETT FET FETT

Hong Kong B 19,375 (1,416) 100,508 502

PRC 2l 221,358 44,270 2,062,623 17,048

240,733 42,854 2,163,131 17,550
Unallocated income KOEWA 1,211
Unallocated expenses DB (27,975)
Profit from operations 4L R 16,090
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ—Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Revenue and Segment 5 WA~ Hitti kA RS HEH
Information (Continved) (%)
Secondary report format — geographical REEHAIN — EDI(E)

segments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009
BE_ZTNF=-A=1t—HILEE

Segment Segment Capital
Revenue results assets expenditure
WA DEBEAR DERE E BARRX
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
Hong Kong BB 20,404 (5,828) 18,682 2,188
PRC H 8,337 (14,268) 326,243 10,582
28,741 (20,096) 344,925 12,770
Unallocated income AAFERKA 548
Unallocated expenses ANEEER (16,627)
Loss from operations e (36,175)
6. Finance Costs 6. BLE R AN
Continuing operations Discontinuing operations Consolidated
FESEER REREER &E
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-2F —ZTNE CZE-%F C-ETNE  CZB-Bf C“ZTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FEr FET FEn FET
Interest on bank  RITERZ
loans .8 4,456 — — — 4,456 —
Interest on other ~ HEHZ
loans Flg — 868 42 7 42 875
Interest on R ESR
convertible bond  FI& 1,775 — — — 1,775 —

6,231 868 42 7 6,273 875

2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45§ | Rl %A A8 CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 9]



92

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

7. Other losses-net 7. HittEsE — F8
Continuing operations Discontinuing operations Consolidated
BECE$E RIEREER &E
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
ZE-2F C—ZTHE CZE-%F C—ETNE CZB-Bf C—ZTNF
HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FET FET FET FAT
Fair value gain/(loss) MBS RIRAF
on financial assets EREZ
at fair value PREEL
through profit INCIEL GV
and loss (B8) 3,838 (1,482) — - 3,838 (1,482)
Provision for other ~ E i fEWFRE
receivables B (24,471) (876) (3,171) — (27,642) (876)
Impairment of nE - BER
property, plant RERE
and equipment (8,065) — (3,705) — (11,770) —
Written down of FEHA
inventories (3,932) (900) (63) — (3,995) (900)
(32,630) (3,258) (6,939) - (39,569) (3,258)

Impairment loss of goodwill and
intangible asset

The impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
are mainly relating to the acquisition of 100% equity
interest of Hong Kong New Success International
Group Investment Company Limited (“New
Success”), which holds 72% equity interest of Fujian
Tianxin Biological Technology Company Limited
(“Tianxin”) and the entire interest of Quanzhou
Liangxin Biological Technology Development
Company Limited (“Liangxin”). Tianxin is principally
engaged in the cultivation of cordyceps and various
precious funguses. Liangxin is principally engaged
in the cordyceps related business. The valuation of
New Success Group for the year ended 31 March
2010 is significantly decreased due to the fact that
the launch of the processed cordyceps and its
related products to the market has been delayed.

8.

BERETVEERERER

BELRETLEERETIZARWES
AHBEREEREARAB(H
Bl BEREERBEVRXAR
NE([RE]) 2 72% BRHERRNRE
EYBERABERARTRE 22
MM ) 2 100% A - REE Bt
ERBEXBEENEBDERAE
Yo RETENFUALBEEHME
%o mRIMTIELBREEREARE
mEERELTS - B ERERE
—E-ZTF=-A=t+—RIEFEZME
BERERD

CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ®isth 23R AR AR | 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE

9. BREFGEHAIBER

BRETSHAIESEE (GEA) /MR T
IERH :

9. Loss Before Income Tax

Loss before income tax is stated after (crediting)/
charging the following:
Consolidated

Continuing operations Discontinuing operations

BFELSEEER RIEREERK &8
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-%% —TTNFf CZE-BF CZTITHNF C-E-%F C_"TTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET FEL FET FET
Amortisation of BREESE
intangible assets
— Club — SFeHE
membership 7 7 - — 7 7
— Film rights — BEFIRE 110 — — — 110 —
— Technologies — B 4,400 — — — 4,400 —
Auditors’ M <
remuneration
— audit services  — HERE 562 280 120 120 682 400
— non audit — BREGH
services 7% 714 273 — — 714 273
Cost of inventories BEREMA
sold 149,480 2,204 10,412 13,868 159,892 16,072
Depreciation & 4,937 3,981 1,818 2,055 6,755 6,036
Exchange (gain)  EX () /
loss i 135 (1) (15) 163 120 162
Impairment of HERE
goodwill 15,700 4,019 65,700 231,787 81,400 235,806
Impairment of B AERE
intangible assets
— Patent — 88,000 — — — 88,000 —
— TV license — BERER - — 83,000 — 83,000 —
— Film right — SEME 110 = 1,030 = 1,140 =
Operating leases in B T5% 8
respect of LISERE
— land and — T REF
building 1,418 1,395 4,222 4,324 5,640 5,719
— plant and — BERFE
equipment - — 2,880 5,820 2,880 5,820
Staff costs EERKA
(including (BREEZS
directors’ e
emolument and MARRIR &
share-based SR
payment) 2E) 12,734 7,569 10,022 8,362 22,756 15,931
Provision for share-  WARRIA A%
based payment HENIE
B 14,500 — — — 14,500 —
Written back of R B
share-based HEFRTE
payment B (6,000) - — - (6,000) —
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10. Income Tax Expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operate.

Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made in these financial statements as there was no
estimated assessable profits for the year (2009: Nil).

PRC corporate income tax

In accordance with the relevant tax laws in the
PRC, subsidiaries are subject to corporate income
tax rate of 256% on its taxable income. However, in
accordance with the relevant tax laws in the PRC,
it is exempted from corporate income tax for its
first two profit-making years (after deducting losses
incurred in previous years) and is entitled to a 50%
tax reduction for the succeeding three years.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

10. FREHiB

AEEARAEEKE R AEM R
B A SRR EE SR A R
% FR MR 2 0 P B SR A
5% -

FERMNEH

RRAFEYL B ERTEN - 8,
AT BRERLEELTENSHER
(ZZFTNF &) -

R EI BB

RIETPEARTE  MBARARE
FERTUAIL 25% 2 ERFISH B R
B RWM - RIEFPEBBTE  H
REMEEMNFEEAKBEFE
EECZERR)ERREMNEEME
BRERER=FFHE50%HBERME °

CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ®isth 23R AR AR | 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z T —Z 4= A=

SN

10. Income Tax Expense (Continued)

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before income tax per consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before income tax

Continuing operations
Discontinuing operations

Tax at the domestic income tax
rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%)

Tax effect of non-taxable profits

Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses

Tax effect of current year’s tax
losses unrecognized

Tax effect of temporary differences
not previously recognized

Effect of different tax rates at
overseas jurisdiction

Others

Tax expense for the year

10. FRE 8B (@)

REFZBRBMAXAIEEERERE
S 2 BRPTS IR AT B R RRIA T ¢

The Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
BRET1S T AIET 18
S (114,201) (23,375)
RIS T (169,091) (262,765)
(283,292) (286,140)
RS E16.5%
(ZZZTNF : 16.5%)

B ZMIE (46,743) (47,213)
B R R it | 2 Bt T8 5 2 (822) (1,801)
AR 2 BIE R &

44,179 42,484
RNEFRERNIEEE

ZHIERE 12,979 8,044
ZAIARERERERE L

Mg 2 — 6
INRLEE B R R R

=% (2,113) (1,813)
HAh (429) 293
REEHIERXT (7,051) —
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZ%

11.

12.

FE=AS+-PLFE

Loss Attributable to Owners of the
Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2010 in the financial
statements of the Company is HK$617,987,000
(2009: HK$5,786,000).

Discontinuing Operation

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company
discontinues the operations of the pre-mastering
and other media services, audiovisual playout
service and direct TV sales segments in order to
concentrate its financial and human resources on its
high growth businesses.

The carrying amounts of the assets of the
discontinuing operation classified as assets held for
resale have been disclosed in note 26.

The results of the discontinuing operations included
in the consolidated results of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2010 together with the
comparative figures for the corresponding year in
2009 are set out below.

11.

12. %

ARFHERAREER
BE-T-TF-A=t+ALFE

Bt ARRBFERR 2 AR HES
A FE{H B8 A 617,987,00058 (=
TE N : 5786,000/7T) °

II\\ %%M%ﬁ&

BHE_ZT-ZF=A=1+—BILFE

" $Aﬂ%i%%lﬁm%%¢&
Hitn EEEARTS - SRR REE
BRESESE  UWKRHBBRANE

BRERRESERER -

PERFKFEBEZERILLERTE
BEZIREENHEE 26 WE -

BE_ZT-ZTF=-_A=1+—HL*HF
B st ARRRGAEREIRIERE
EBkE ER-_TTNAFRHZ
HEBEFHINWMT -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ=Z—ZF = A= +—HIFE

12. Discontinuing Operation (Continved)

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross losses

Other revenue

General, administrative and other
expenses

Loss from operation

Finance costs

Other loss

Share of result of an associated
Company

Impairment loss of goodwill and
intangible assets

Loss before income tax
Income tax expenses

Loss for the year from
discoutinuing operations

Cash flows from discontinued
operations

Net cash flows (used in)/
generated from operating
activities

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

Net cash flows generated from
financing activities

Net cash (outflow)/inflows
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WA
35 & AKX

Ei18

H AU A

—f& - ITHEUREAM
£/

REER
BB R
H b &5 18
P NI E S

BENREBTLEELZ
E R

BR PR S 4 B &5 18
PSR XX

RIEBEXBZFE
B8

ERIREXRBCRERE

rEEB(AR),/EE

ZHEREFH

BRERAZES
MBI
MELRDEEZES

s =0
//lbi/‘?%ﬁ

BeORd),/MAFR

12 R I REEK m)

S

2010 2009
—g-8F —TINF
HK’000 HK’000
FET FEIT
19,937 21,917
(20,406) (26,709)
(469) (4,792)

1 50

(11,912) (16,203)
(12,380) (20,945)
(42) (7)
(6,939) —

— (10,026)
(149,730) (231,787)
(169,091) (262,765)
(169,091) (262,765)
(885) 37,732
(1,403) (41,779)

— 5,983

(2,288) 1,936
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

13. Loss Per Share 13. BREE
For continuing and discontinuing operations BERRILREER
The calculation of the basic loss per share AARERREREABGZERE
attributable to the ordinary owners of the Company NEB RN TSEE -

is based on the following data:

2010 2009
—g-¥F —ZEhF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss [=Ei=]
Loss for the purpose of basic R EERERER
loss per share pd it (269,331) (283,421)
2010 2009
—g-®5 -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Number of shares R 8B
Weighted average number of AU ESRERERE
ordinary shares for the purpose 2 B hRE
1,897,172 842,316

of basic loss per share

98  CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED Rl 22 AR AT | 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 4 #



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HILFE

13. Loss Per Share (Continved)
From continuing operations
The calculation of the basic loss per share from

continuing operations attributable to the ordinary
owners of the parent is based on the following data:

Loss for the year attributable to PIN/NEIE F DN L

owners of the Company FEEE

Less: Bl -

Loss for the year from RERIEEEFEK 2
discontinuing operations FEBE

Loss for the purpose of basic LG ERBFEL ST
loss per share from continuing ZGRERERZEE
operations

From discontinuing operations

Basic loss per share for the discontinuing operations
is HK8.92 cents per share (2009: HK31.20 cents
per share) based on the loss for the year from the
discontinuing operations of HK$169,091,000 (2009:
HK$262,765,000).

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
March 2010 and 31 March 2009 have not been
disclosed as the share options outstanding these
years and convertible bonds issued during the year
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share for these years.

13. BREE @)

REFESEEK

BRAEBREREARGEREFE
REEB 2 BRERERIIEATE

BETHE -

2010 2009
—g-%F —TINF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAT FET

(269,331) (283,421)

(169,091) (262,765)

(100,240) (20,656)

RERLEEER

RIEREXEB 2 SREARNBBAETR
82BN NF : F8&31.20
B DIRBRIECEEBCFE
& 18169,091,0008 (= T T A
% : 262,765,000 8 TL)5TE -

HREBEZE=_T—TF=-A=+—HK
TETNF=ZR=F+—HIEFERHREK
TEZERERFACRITZAIRR
EFEZEFTECERELABREAR
BEYE QY ERBEZSEFEZS
B E B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE

14. Staff Costs (Including Directors’ Emoluments) 14 BEREA(BREEHE)

The Group
KEH
Continuing operations Discontinuing operations Consolidated
BESEEY BRISEEE g8
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
“2-%F “ETNE “E-%F “ETNE “B-%F ETNE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx TET FET FET TEx TET
Wages and salaries T4 3 5,802 7,061 9,443 8,059 15,245 15,120
Pension costs BREHA
— defined — RE
contribution plan {353 407 158 579 303 986 461
Share-based PR B
payment HEH 6,525 350 - — 6,525 350
12,734 7,569 10,022 8,362 22,756 15,931
The Group reviews the emoluments payable to staff AEEGFZREERARZZEMSGRK
annually on a performance related basis and makes N ENTREEZBE o

reference to the market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZE T —ZF=A=+—HIFE
15. Directors’ and Senior Management’s 15 EEREREEAE M
Emoluments &
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ENKENNEB(ZZEZTNEF
8 (2009: 9) directors were as follows: NB)ESBAZHMESMT -
Employer’s
contributions
Salaries, to retirement
allowances, benefits 2010 2009
and other schemes  Share-based Total Total
remuneration B payment  emoluments  emoluments

Fees  #M 2¥  BAHEL WER  Z%-8F @ “EENF
e REAEE L5 xfiHE aHs BHe
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
FEn FEr FEr FiEr FEn TET

Executive Directors HiEs
Mr. Wong Man Hung, Patrick T 3% &

(Chairman) (2) 200 494 12 3,625 4,331 612
Mr. Law Kwok Leung BERLE 100 884 12 — 996 931
Mr. Feng Xiao Ping HIMEEE - 12316 - - 1316 1315
Mr. Stephen William Frostick ~ Stephen William

Frostick# & — 390 12 — 402 124
Mr. Tong Hing Chi BERLE - - - - - 347

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro  ERENULE 78 - - - 78 60
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua ~ ZEZEA 78 - — — 78 60
Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mablel ~ BxZxt 2 — — — 2 —
Mr. Chang Carl FRELE - - - - - 60
Total ag 478 3,084 36 3,625 7,223 3,509
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZ—ZF = A=+

HIEFE

15. Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Emoluments (Continved)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Mr. Feng Xiao Ping waived his emoluments
amounted to HK$1,200,000 for both years
ended 31 March 2010 and 2009. Apart from
that, no director waived or agreed to waive any
of their emoluments in respect of two years
ended 31 March 2010 and 2009.

The directors’ emoluments are determined by
the Board with reference to their contribution in
terms of time, effort and their expertise and will
be reviewed on an annual basis.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remuneration
were the highest in the Group for the year
included three (2009: three) directors whose
remuneration are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The remuneration paid and
payable to the remaining two (2009: two)
individuals during the year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and other
benefits in kind

Retirement benefits scheme
contributions K

Share-based payment

e RUK
H b B ) F a8
RIRER TS

PARS A7 32 A5 3038

15 EEREREEAE M

cAC D)
(a) EEMe (&)

(b)

REBEE-Z—ZFR_ZTTNF
ZA=+—HLEREFE @ FH/)
FhEADMERB S 1,200,000
BIT o BREEI  MEBER
HeXREREREHE_S—
TERZZETANF=H=1T—H
IEREFEZBE -

EEMLDHMEFRLSHEH
ZHE SHRIEABTE
o WREERE o

EUKREHFAL

AEEFRANRSHALERE
=R (ZFTNF  ZRES
BEZHMEER EXZINZ M
[RER - FREN KBNS TRE
—ETNF  MBIALTZHE
s

The Group
rEE

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETENEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
939 857
24 24
2,900 —
3,863 881
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE
15. Directors’ and Senior Management’s 15 EEREREEAE M
Emoluments (Continved) K AC )
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EUEEHFAL(E)
The number of the highest paid individuals NIETIMecEHE s ZeF AL
whose remuneration fell within the following SZEWT :

band is as follows:

2010 2009
—E-EF ZETNF
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 =T E 1,000,000 7870 2 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,000,001 BLE
3,000,000 % T 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,000,001 BLE
5,000,000/ 7T 2 —
5 5
During the years ended 31 March 2010 and HE-Z—ZTFER-_ZFTNF=
2009, no emoluments have been paid by the BA=+—RHLFE  AEBEWE
Group to the directors and the five highest paid MEZE R A& H AT
individuals as an inducement to join the Group, SIERMBAREE v RE) B
or as compensation for loss of office. Mg -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%

16. Property, Plant and Equipment

Cost

At 1 April 2008
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Reclassification

Additions

Disposal

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2009

Acaquisition of subsidiaries

Reclassification

Reclassification from prepaid
land lease payment

Reclassification to held for resale

Additions

Disposal

At 31 March 2010

Accumulated depreciation and
Impairment

At 1 April 2008

Acaquisition of subsidiaries

Reclassification

Charge for the year

Disposal

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2009

Acaquisition of subsidiaries
Reclassification

Reclassification to held for resale
Charge for the year

Disposal

Impairment

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2010

Carrying value
At 31 March 2010

At 31 March 2009

SE=AS+—BILEE

16. 1% - HERRE

The Group
r5E
Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and
improvements ~ machinery  equipment Motor ~ Construction
Buildings i BER G %E vehicles  in progress Total
B¥ £ #fE T RE ERIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT AT AT AT AT AT
A
RZZZ\EMA-A = 1526 36,795 1,300 2,018 — 41,639
WEHBAR - — 189 4,632 — = 4,821
EE ] - 2,494 971 (3,780) 315 = =
2 = 2,928 5,022 4434 161 = 12545
& = = (70) (10) = = (80)
Eq#Z — 57 698 13 46 = 814
R-EENE=R=1-H — 7,005 43,605 6,589 2,540 = 59,739
WERBAR — 46,396 86,995 1,850 6,561 30,568 172,370
EFipE - - 456 (599) 143 - =
BRMTHESENIE
25,682 = = = — — 25,682
ENPRRR{EEE — (2,181) (19,042) (993) — = (22,216)
2 - 135 4,931 2,070 448 5,966 17,550
& - - = ) (48) — (50)
R-E-ZFEZF=1-H 25,682 55,355 116,945 8,915 9,644 36,534 253,075
ZHTERAE
R=ZE\FHA-H = 560 29,328 537 542 = 30,967
WEHBAR — — 3 853 = = 886
B g 10 3 (77) 64 — =
rEENE — 345 4769 688 234 = 6,036
e - - (62) 8) — = (70)
BEHAE = = 337 18 19 — 374
R-EENE=R=1-H = 915 34,408 2,011 859 = 38,193
WERBAR = 1382 2,062 243 401 = 4,088
EEip] = = 123 (266) 143 = =
BN EER{EEE - (988) (18,689) (398) = = (20,075)
TEERHE 80 1,008 3,810 139 461 = 6,755
e _ _ — = 2 = (2)
B - 774 3,779 — 6,158 10,711
BH AR - 2 11 (75) 3 (79) (138)
R-Z-EF=A=1-A 80 2,319 22,499 6,690 1,865 6,079 39,532
FEE
R-E-TFEZF=1-H 25,602 53,036 94,446 2,205 77719 30,455 213,543
R-E-TFEZF=1-H — 6,090 9,197 4578 1,681 = 21,546
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE
16. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continved) 16. 3% - BERFZEE)
The Company
ARTF
Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
B RERRE
HK$'000
FET
Cost R 2
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZNFMNA—AH 11
Additions 186 B 50
At 31 March 2009 R_FEENF=A=+—H 31
Additions 186 B .
At 31 March 2010 R-B-—ZF=RA=+—H 31
Accumulated depreciation BitinE
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZNFMNA—AH 1
Charge for the year REZHE 4
At 31 March 2009 R_FEENF=A=+—H 5
Charge for the year REZHE 4
At 31 March 2010 R-B-—ZF=A=+—H 9
Carrying value BEEE
At 31 March 2010 R-_E—ZTEFE=F=+—H 290
At 31 March 2009 R-_EZhE=F=+—H 26
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZEZZ—%4

H=H

HIEFE

16. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

(a)

The Group’s prepaid land lease payements
(note 17), buildings and construction in
progress (collectively referred to as the
“Properties”) situated in PRC are held by
the Group. Accordingly, the Properties
were last revaluated on 31st March 2010
by BMI Appraisals Limited, an independent
professional qualified valuer, on a depreciated
replacement cost basis, which is the aggregate
of the land value in its existing use and the
estimated replacement costs of the buildings.

The carrying amount of the Properties would
have been HK$81,793,000 (2009: HK$Nil) had
they been stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation.

At 31st March 2010, the Properties of amount
HK$10,684,000 (RMB9,402,000 equivalent) and
property, plant and equipment of HK$6,575,000
(RMB5,786,000 equivalent) were pledged as
security for bank loans granted to the Group.

The Group’s Properties are stated at valuation
and other components of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost.

16. Y13 ~ SRR E (2

(a)

ANEE B LA
17) AR EBEABZEFRERTL
BR(GHEAIZEME]) BAEE
BE - Bt BYEEAERMG
EAD A A FP B RT S A PR A BRI
ERBERARESFEHEN-F
—EF=A=1+—BHEHZED
E2EE BREBERERE LT
HEERGTEFEERA L
BEATHE -

fin 5% 55 ) 35 = A AR OB R 5T AT
EAR EREELR
81,793,000 B T( =TT NF :
THEIT) o

RZE—FZTF=H=+—H " %
LY % 5 %010,684,000 7% 7T (48
LR AR¥9 402,0007T) &Y
¥ WS RRHEARE6,575,000
T E R A K %5,786,000
L) EEBIERAREEFTERTT
BRZER-

AEBZZEMRELEEARK
mE - #aE REREZEBED
AR AR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ—Z—TF = A= +—HILFE
17.Prepaid Land Lease Payment 17 AL E
The Group
rEH
2010 2009
—B-2F —EENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At 1 April 2009 R-ZEEHAENA—A — —
Acquired upon acquisitions of g1 NG
subsidiaries 35,568 —
Reclassification to property, plant FEEFDEEWE - HEN
and equipment B (25,682) —
Amortisation provided during the — HARNE B (&8 8
period (302) _
Impairment VERED (1,059) —
Exchange realignment b 5, A B (2) —
At 31 March 2010 R_ZE-—ZFF=A=+—H 8,523 —
The prepaid land lease payment was acquired by ENTHESHENBARR_-E
its subsidiaries in February 2007 with a term of 50 TEE_ARPBENE - FHR50
years in PRC. F o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE
18. Goodwill
At 1 April REA—H
Acquired upon acquisition of W B BT B 1 R B
subsidiaries W b
Arised upon acquisitions of g )= NS IS
subsidiaries (Note a) EE(Hita)
Arised upon acquisitions of an Lt i B i 1 R B
associated company (Note 21) EE(HiE21)
Impairment loss (Note b) BEEBE(AEDb)
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
acquired several subsidiaries at a consideration
of HK$1,402,544,000 (2009: HK$489,166,000).
As disclosed in Note 35, the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets of these subsidiaries at the
date of acquisition amounted of HK$585,349,000
(2009: HK$180,470,000) resulting in goodwill of
HK$817,195,000 (2009: HK$308,696,000).

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill by an
independent valuer, Stirling Appraisals Limited, and
determined that goodwill associated with the Group's
TV operation and cordyceps operation were impaired
by HK$65,700,000 (2009: HK$231,787,000) and
HK$15,700,000 (2009: HK$4,019,000) respectively.

18. &
The Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
81,400 —
— 2,715
817,195 308,696
— 5,795
(81,400) (235,806)
817,195 81,400
Miat -

(a)

RBE_ZFT—ZTF=A=+—
BEFER A&EEBKEKNKE
1,402,544,000 8 L (Z T NF -
489,166,000 7% 7t ) U 8 & T KT &
ARl MMM EBMEE - A&
ERKEBBAEZERNB AR Z
Al &% Al & )% & E /585,349,000
7 (= & T AL, F ¢ 180,470,000
BT ) - E 4R 2E817,195,000%
(= T T A F : 308,696,000
JL) °

REBEE-_ZT—TF=F=+—H1t
FEAN AEEHBYHEMPE
FEAR ARG ARz T KRE S
B WEETRAEEZERELE K
L REEEKHERZEE D BIR
665,700,000 L(Z T T 1L F :
231,787,000 7T ) % 15,700,000 75
TL(ZZFZNF : 4,019,00087T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%

19. Oth

er Intangible Assets

SE=AS+—BILEE

19 HttEBEEE

The Group
81

Patents Licence Technologies

Club EhE B B
Film rights  membership note(b) note(b) note(a) Total
EYRE effie% M b) M) Hit(a) @zt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET AT TET TET

At 1 April 2008 RZFENE

MA—A 1,029 168 — — — 1,197

Acquisition of subsidiaries WEENB LA = - 98,000 83,000 - 181,000

Additions i 225 - - - - 225

Amortisation for the year ~ AEEE - (7) - = . (7)

Exchange realignment RS - 4 - - . 4

Carrying value RIZENE

At 31 March 2009 ZA=t-H

LEEE 1,254 165 98,000 83,000 — 182,419

Acquisition of subsidiaries WENB A - - - - 263,182 263,182

Amortisation for the year ~ REE &

(note c) (Hite) (110) (7) — — (4,400) (4,517)
Exchange realignment AR (4) - = = = (4)
Impairment (note d) BB (Hiad) (1,140) — (88,000) (83,000) — (172,140)
Carry value RZZ-ZF

At 31 March 2010 =A=1-H

AR - 158 10,000 - 258,782 268,940

Note: e -

(a) The technologies were purchased as part of business (a) BMRAEEBA - BEBaHZ
combinations in the current year and are stated at — 5 - THERK AR A AR E S
cost less any impairment losses and are amortised BIER - WREMEFTAFEREE10
on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful FNIREGEEE -
lives of 10 years.

(b) The Patents (including precious tunguse, health vino (b) ENEEREZERE BEHEK

and oxygenated water patent) (collectively known
as “Patents”) and TV License (“License”) were
purchased as part of business combinations in the

year ended 31 March 2009.

FAKEFRE) (G EFE]RE
BREB(TERRDRBE_ZFTNF
ZA=Z1T-BLFEBA BX®
Btz 8O -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%

SE=AS+—BILEE

19. Other Intangible Assets (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The Patents and License are considered by the
management of the Group as having an indefinite
useful life and will not be amortised until its useful
life is determined to be finite upon reassessment
of its useful life annually by the management.
Instead they will be tested for impairment annually
and whenever there is an indication that it may be
impaired.

Amortisation charge of HK$4,517,000 (2009:
HK$7,000) with respect to other intangible assets
have been included in general, administrative and
other expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of film rights, patents and
license have been reduced to their recoverable
amounts through recognition of impairment loss of
HK$1,140,000 (2009: Nil), HK$88,000,000 (2009: Nil),
HK$83,000,000 (2009: Nil) respectively which have
been included in impairment loss of goodwill and
intangible assets in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

20. Interests in Subsidiaries

19. HthmMEEE #)

Bz - (&)

(b)

Unlisted shares, at cost (Note (a)) 3JE LT @ LRA(H1:E (a))

Amounts due from subsidiaries
(Note (b))

Less: Provision for impairment

JRE s B I8 2 B IR
(K17t (b))

B ORER R

(%)

AEEEEERRENERERA
BEERTERFY UL T g RS
H BEEEEREMREAEAFH
BEEMGHHE  BIEEAIEASF
HERAL REBWEBFERAED
BT RE R E I R ETTRE R A

EBRHEMEREE 24,517,000
(=TT 4 : 7,000/ 7T ) &
BEREAZEREZEAZERK
mR M TR REMRAY -

BERE - BFRERZEERED
5 7l 5 38 fE SRR {8 &5 8 1,140,000
B = 2T L F: £ )
88,000,000 (=TT NG : &)
183,000,000 TL(ZZ T N F :
E)OREEAIMESE  REBED
AR EEERERZAERENR
BERE/BAE -

20. Fria M B 2 7] 2 &

The Company

P /N

2010 2009
—g-BF —TThF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
13,307 13,307
2,033,111 601,631
2,046,418 614,938
(629,338) (22,988)
1,417,080 591,950
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE
20. Interests in Subsidiaries (Continved) 20. iEMf B AR 2= (&)
(a) The following is a list of the principal (@) TRITHN=-Z—ZFF=A
subsidiaries at 31 March 2010 Et+t—HBZEIENBLARFE
Particulars of
issued share
capital/registered
Place of Principal activities and capital Interest
Name incorporation place of operation BRTRE/ held
£ MR HYE TEEBERCEHE afEARFE FristEs
Held directly:
EERE:
M21 Investment Limited British Virgin  Investment holding in Hong Kong 400 ordinary shares  100%
Islands EBBRELZR of US$1 each
EBRAES 400 R BRREE
1ET 2 ERK
Held indirectly:
BEEE
Fujian Tianxin Biological PRC Sales of cordyceps-related US$2,500,000 72%
Technology Company e products 2,500,000 7T
Limited HENXXREBEBER
BRERBEMRE
BRAR
Goodside Hong Kong  Investment holding in Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of ~ 100%
International B EERREER HK$1 each
Limited 1RERAEE
HEBERARAT BTz BRR
Hong Kong New Success PRC Investment holding in Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary 100%
International Group e ERBHEER shares of HK$1
Investment Company each
Limited 10,000 kSRR E(E 178
ERNBEREERERR AT T E B
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HILFE
20. Interests in Subsidiaries (Continved) 20. T B AR 2 fE = ()
(a) The following is a list of the principal (@ TFTRIITRNR=-FB-FBF=A=+-—
subsidiaries at 31 March 2010 (Continued) AZzEZEMBATFEGE)
Particulars of
issued share
capital/registered
Place of Principal activities and capital Interest
Name incorporation place of operation BERTRE/ held
a1 MBI Y FEEBRRCEHY B AR Pk s
Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital PRC Provision of TV digitalization RMB50,000,000 70%
Television Broadcast e services in the PRC AE#%50,000,0007T
Company Limited R BEREER SRS

HEERRFERERAA

Indorus Investments Limited  British Virgin  Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares  100%

Islands EERREER of US$1 each
EBEAHS 100 R EREE
1ET2EBR
Jiangsu Kedi Modern PRC Manufacturing and trading of US$11,600,000 100%
Agriculture Co., Ltd 1 tobacco flue-curing agricultural 11,600,000 37T
THMMAREEERAF machinery and agricultural

antibionc fertilizer

HEREBREREHERRLHHER

RAEEH
M21 Digicast Company Hong Kong  Provision of audiovisual playout 1,000 ordinary 100%
Limited BB services on audiovisual data shares of HK$1
BEHEARAR and provision of post-production  each
services in Hong Kong 1,000 RBREE
EEBRUBEEANIYE AT BB
EHURTS R 12 BB IR
Sparkle View Enterprises British Virgin  Investment holding in Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100%
Limited Islands EERREER of US$1 each
REREARAR EBEAHS 1REE1ET

LR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZZZF—%

20. Interests in Subsidiaries (Continved)

F=ZHZA

HIEFE

20. FRL MY A Bl 2 g ()

(a) The following is a list of the principal (@ TFTRIITRNR=-FB-FBF=A=+-—
subsidiaries at 31 March 2010 (Continued)

Name

L

Sky Dragon Digital
Television and Movies
Limited

REHBERER

Quanzhou Liangxin
Biological Technology
Development Company
Limited

FINRBEDRIR
HERR AT

Zhengzhou Ruihao Tobacco
Technology Company
Limited

BMHZMENRERRR

A complete list of the particulars of all
subsidiaries would be of excessive length and
therefore the subsidiaries as set out above are
those which principally affect the results or net

assets of the Group.

Place of

Principal activities and

incorporation place of operation

ALY TEXBREEHE

Hong Kong
B

PRC
e

PRC
e

Investment holding in Hong Kong

ERBREER

Sales of cordyceps-related
products and other health
products

HELLAREBEBER
REMREER

Manufacturing and trading of
agricultural machinery

LEREEMEER

Particulars of
issued share
capital/registered
capital
BROIRE/
R E

21,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

21,000,000 fix
BREEVST

LR

US$200,000
200,000%7T

RMB10,000,000
AR# 10,000,000 7T

AZEENBARAFEE)

Interest
held
s

100%

100%

100%

WK A KB AR g BN
R BENE ERTBEER
SEZEERFEEZHBA
Al e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —TF = A=+ HILFE
20. Interests in Subsidiaries (Continved) 20. iEMf B AR 2= (&)
(b) The amounts due from subsidiaries are (b) EUKMBARREBELSEER 28
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on RIREREE -
demand.
21.Interests in an Associated Company 21 Frih B & A B =
The Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-FF —EBNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 April REA—H — —
Cost of investments in an unlisted JFEFHBEATZ
associated company LE KA — 11,364
Less: goodwill arising from B WHEPTE £ R
acquisition (Note 18) (Htat 18) — (5,795)
— 5,569
Less: Share of post-acquisition loss, & @ FT{EUBE 12 E1E -
net of dividends received kR EWAR S — (5,569)
At 31 March W=A=+—8 — —
Amount due from an associated JrE U Bk = R B ZRIE
company — 4,457
Less: Share of post-acquisition loss & : AT{h W BB 1% E5 18 — (4,457)
Total Share of post-acquisition loss  FriGUtBE1% BB 4258 — 10,026
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE

21.Interests in an Associated Company 2. B E N B fEm ()

(Continued)

The summarised financial information of the Group’s REEBERNT CHBEERBEENEH

associated company is set out below: W

2010 2009
—E-%TF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBIT

Current assets MENE E 882 2,744

Non-current assets JEMEEE 6,842 5,425

Current liabilities RN (5,028) (4,680)

2,696 3,489

Revenue A 113 1,474

Loss for the year RNEZEE (1,191) (12,281)

Notes: Htaz

(a) At 31st March 2010, the Group’s interests in (a) R-ZE—ZTF=A=+—H8 K&
associated companies were unlisted. The Group’s EREE AR 2R AIELT - K
associated company is: SEZBERTR

Percentage
of equity
interest
Particulars attributable
Place of of registered to the Group
Name incorporation Principal activities capital REEE PEfE AR
x| A B H# FEEK T MEARFEE Bt
Jiangsu BCTV Fashion PRC TV program production, RMB10,000,000 39.2%
Media Limited AR advertising design, AR
Company production and agency 10,000,000 7T
TLER B B M EE AR A A BIRET A BE - BERET
SUERKE

(b) The carrying amounts of the amounts due from an (b) %H&Hﬁf"u =R v B EEE
associated company approximate their fair values. FERE -

(c) At 31st March 2010, the Group has shared its (c) R—F—FF=H=+—8" ¥5€
loss up to the extent of its investment costs of B A B B R 11,364, OOO%TEJ}
HK$11,364,000. The Group has not recognised fi E 518 o 7 o [ 3 BB 4 )
losses amounting to HK$3,446,000 (2009: R 153,446,000 B L (=B E
HK$2,255,000) for the associated company. F 2,_252.5\,000;%73)0314&5@;,@2
The accumulated losses not recognised were REEER3,446,000 8T (—FF
HK$3,446,000 (2009: HK$2,255,000). In addition, JUEF : 2,255,000 7T ) ° UESN + K
the Group has made an impairment provision of SEERE—FRBZHHEF
approximately HK$5,795,000 for the full amounts of HR BB E 495,795,000 8 7T °

goodwill acquired in previous year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HILFE
22.Inventories 22. 78
The Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Raw materials R 3,117 153
Work in progress ERS 12,688 —
Finished goods RUAK o 941 1,360
Inventories held for resale BIEEEZ2TFE 364 193
Biological assets EYEE 1,643 1,945
18,753 3,651
2010 2009
—EB-EF —ETNF
Biological assets Reconciliation HK$°000 HK$'000
of Carrying Amounts Y EEREEZ AL FET FET
Reconciliation of Carrying IEXREBHAERCEERE L
Amounts of cordyceps products &R
Carrying amount at 1 April 2009 REZZEZNFNA—HZREE 1,945 —
Increases due to production A A E 1N 4,649 2,933
Net gain arising from changes in BE#E)ELHAFE
fair value less estimated point- B BH & B AN
of-sale costs attributable to SR ELEINEFE
physical changes 1,308 —
Decreases due to sales B $H &5 Rk > (6,245) (988)
Exchange realignment BE 5, 3 B (14) —
Carrying amount at 31 March 2010 R-—ZE—ZFF=HA=+—H
Z BREE 1,643 1,945
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE

23.

24.

Accounts and Notes Receivables

The Group’s credit term granted to customers
generally ranges from 15 to 270 days. At 31 March
2010, details of the ageing analysis of accounts and
notes receivables were as follows:

Accounts receivables FE W BR X
Current BN EH

30 — 60 days 302 60H

61 — 90 days 61290 H

Over 90 days 90 H A E

Notes receivables — current EWEE — BE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts and
notes receivables approximate their fair values.

Other Receivables and Deposits

At 31 March 2010, included in the balance are
advances to suppliers HK$63,085,000 and balance
due from an independent third party HK$68,182,000.
The amounts are unsecured, interest free and have
no fixed terms of repayment.

23. EURA K ERRE

AEBERTEFPZEEH —MHB5
E270H - RZZE—ZEF=A=+—
A BRERKEKREERZERERD T
BT

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
300,110 5,612
47 2,160

315 —
6,462 —
306,934 7,772
24,374 —
331,308 7,772

AEERYRREEKRERZ REE
BEENFEMES

24 Rt EWREAREZEE

RN_ZE—TE=ZF=+—08 " &&H8
¥ [\) £ & 7 £ 30 63,085,000 7 7T &
JE U J8 37 58 = 75 45 ££68,182,000
Lo RERERAEERR  2ERER
TEERE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%

25.Financial Assets at Fair Value Through

Profit or Loss

Equity securities, listed in Hong
Kong at cost
Fair value losses

Fair values of listed equity securities FHRARZE %2 ATFE

The fair values of the listed investments are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices

available on the Stock Exchange.

26. Assets held for resale

Property, plant and machinery
(note a)
— at cost
— accumulated depreciation

Notes:

SE=AS+—BILEE

5 RERRRBRAFEREZ

The Group
REH
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
BEA LT ZRAES
B AR 8,376 8,376
NFE{EEE (1,460) (5,298)
6,916 3,078

MIZEEMERE °

26 FIFEEEE

EHRE 2 A ETDIRBRZXAAHRZ

2010 2009
—E-E5F —EFNF
HK$’000 HK$000
F#ET FEIT

Y - B3 R A

(Kita)

— AR 22,216 —
— REHE (20,075) —
2,141 —

(a)

As disclosed in note 12, the Group intends to
dispose of a parcel of property, plant and machinery
it no longer utilises. The property, plant and
machinery was previously used in the pre-mastering
and other media services, audiovisual playout service
and direct TV sales segments. A search is underway
for a buyer. No impairment loss was recognised on
reclassification of the property, plant and machinery
as assets held for resale as at 31 March 2010.

(a) WM I2AEE  AEEHRLE
HEABERZYE - #as RHEmW -
ZEME  BEREWEHARE
MRATHAREREMKERE 28
BRREREEERHEEDH - &
SELYMEER R_FT—TF=
A=1t—B YUEREHDEZF
ME BELERAFEBEEE
ERRERRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ—Z—TF = A=+ HILFE
27.Bank Balances and Cash
Bank balances and cash IRITERNIRS
Time deposits TEHFER

Less: Pledged deposits (Note a)

Bank balances and cash

(a)

RITERERE

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s bank
deposits of HK$135,918,000 (RMB119,608,000
equivalent) were pledged as guarantee
deposits for the issuance of bank acceptance
notes to suppliers.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposits rates. Short-
term deposits are made for varying periods of
between one day and three months, depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective
short-term deposit rates. The bank balances
and time deposits are deposited with credit
worthy banks with no recent history of default.

B BEEER(AEa)

27 . RITERRBES

(a)

The Group
AEE

2010 2009
—E-FF —ZEThF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
192,881 6,976
135,918 —
328,799 6,976
(135,918) —
192,881 6,976

R-_ZE—ZTF=ZA=+—H &
% 8 135,918,000/ ;L (A E K
AR #119,608,0007T ) Z R 17
FREERERMEER LR
TEREERZBRER

RITBESRE A RITFRAEIA
FENERER - RPFERZER
HEAEAE N F—BHE={E
A RIRKEZNKREHE
miE - WA B8R H T 3R =&
B RITEB N E R TR TR
R T HE WAL 8 2 E B R AT
R1T -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —TF = A=+ HILFE

28. Accounts and Notes Payables 28. BN R R EBNERE
At 31 March 2010, details of the ageing analysis of R-ZZFE—ZF=R=+—H0 " ERE
accounts and notes payables were as follows: REREWEE 2 RRDTFHBERAT ¢
2010 2009
—E-EF —TETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Accounts payables AT BRX
Current BN H3 7,460 777
30 — 60 days 30&260H 5,963 2,061
61 — 90 days 61£E90H 46,998 —
Over 60 days 60 H A E 68,150 1,090
128,571 3,928
Notes payable — current S EE — HHE 107,509 —
236,080 3,928
The carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts and $;%@JEHEE &Fqﬂzmﬁ%zﬁﬁﬁfﬁ
notes payables approximate their fair values. HENTEESE

29. Amount Due to Related Companies and 29 BNBAEARIREENE

a Director

(a) Amount due to related companies (a) ENBEEARRKIEA

As at 31 March 2010, the amount due to Hunan R-ZZE—ZF=A=+—H8
TV and Sky Dragon Holdings is unsecured, R ER R REIER 2 HRIEA

interest free and has no fixed terms of MK B NEETFERE -
repayment.

As at 31 March 2009, the amount due to Hunan
TV is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed EEER 2B AEET - £
terms of repayment while the amount due to BREEFEEND  mEMXKE
Sky Dragon Holdings is unsecured, 5% interest RS 2 FRIEAER  AEFIR
charge per annum and repayable on demand. 5% it B RIZEKERE ©

R-ZBZBANF=ZA=1T—8" &

(b) Amount due to a director (b) ENEZEFE

ZERNES 2R REEN
RERIZBRER -

The amount due to a director is unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE

30.Bank and Other Loans 30. BT REMER

All the bank and other loans are wholly repayable
within five years:

Bank loans IRITE K
Secured H A
Other loans HEaEK
Unsecured 44 1

Less: Amount due within one year J& - IN—FAZ| AW BFEFE

shown under current RBEEANZ
liabilities =

Bank loans are denominated in RMB and
bear interest at floating interest rate between
4.78%-5.84%.

Certain bank loans are secured by the Group’s
property, plants and equipments of HK$17,259,000
(RMB15,188,000 equivalent), and certain prepaid
land lease prepayments owned by Mr. Shang
Xiaochang, a director of Jiangsu Kedi Modern
Agriculture Co., Ltd, with an aggregate net carrying
amount of HK$48,295,000 (RMB42,500,000
equivalent).

The directors of the Group estimate the fair value
of the bank loans by discounting their future cash
flows at the market rate. The directors of the Group
consider that the carrying amounts of the Group’s
current borrowings approimate to their fair values at
the reporting date.

The other loans bear interest at various rates
between 5% to 2% over Hong Kong prime lending
rate per annum.

FERITREMERHERAF AT
BEIE -

The Group
rEH

2010 2009
—E-¥F "TITNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
288,636 —
23,591 15,125
312,227 15,125
(312,227) (15,125)

RTERAARE BEAMN - WIEN T
4.78%-5.84% Z FE)FI|EFT B o

EFHEITERUNAKREE17,259,000
BL(HE R AR 15,188,000 7T )
I - MEEE R RE 0 BT EREIHIR
REXERAFZEETEEELAR
A BEREFE A48,295000% 7T
(HHEN AR 42500,00070) 2 5H
FrEM LA SRR -

AEEEEEBETIRHEYBERT
B2 RFA LR EH BRITRRS
ATE AREEERS  ALER
EEEREERLAZRE N2
TEIRE -

HihEREGFIR% EEREKEEE
R EM2% BEE S -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HILFE
31. Deferred Taxation B E B E

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using a
principal taxation rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%).

At the end of reporting period, the Group had
unused tax losses of approximately HK$78,040,000
(2009: HK$66,131,000) available for offset against

BEEMENDRAEEINERER
&Ex%ﬂ 16.5% (— T T 1 F :
16.5% )5t & -

RBERR AEBEERGHHMRE
& 18 4978,040,000 (= E E A,
F : 66,131,000/ 7T ) 7] 4 K §5 K 2R

future profits. No deferred tax asset has been w0 BB R 2R E ) SRR i LATEOR] -
recognised in respect of the above unused tax AL Rt D KRB AR IBEERRIE
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit ETHIBEE - HIEBEREERBA
streams. The tax losses may be carried forward i o

indefinitely.

32. Convertible Bonds 32. A RESF

The Group and the Company

AEERAAT
Liability Equity
portion portion Total
=R BRI St
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2008 R-_ZTN\FMA—H — — —
Issue CB 2013 BT —=4F
AR (E S 251,878 31,002 282,880
Issue CB 2011 BT ——F
AR (E 5 45,543 4,457 50,000
Conversion during the year FR N # (297,421) (35,459) (332,880)
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF
=A=+—8H — — —
Issue CB 2015 BT "2 —HF
AR (E 660,207 437,793 1,098,000
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE—Z4F
—A=+—~ 660,207 437,793 1,098,000
On 28 April 2008, the Company issued convertible RZZEZNFMNAZ+N\B - AAF

bonds with an aggregate amount of HK$282,880,000
(“CB 2013”). Each bondholder has the option to
convert the CB 2013 into ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each at a conversion price of
HK$0.32. Unless previously converted or purchased
or redeemed, each CB 2013 shall be redeemed
by the Company at 115 per cent of its principal
amount on 28 April 2013 (the maturity date of the
Convertible Bonds).

217N 4 #8%8 282,880,000 78 JT 7] #2
REE(ZE—=FrBREH]) -
BEERBABREE T —Z=Frk
BMEFREROI2B T 2R EE
BAERXARSREBEIOIBLZE
B - BIEZAIE @R E B B
B ZAIAARAR_T—=FNA
“HNB(AJBRESDESEA)EAE
BZ115% BRI SN _T—=Fn/#
MESH o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE

32. Convertible Bonds (Continved) 32. AR ESF (&)

On 27 November 2008, the Company issued 2%
convertible bonds with an aggregate amount of
HK$50,000,000 (“CB 2011"). The bondholder has the
option to convert the CB 2011 into ordinary shares
of the Company of HK$0.01 each at a conversion
price of HK$0.456. Unless previously converted or
purchased or redeemed, each CB 2011 shall be
redeemed by the Company at 100 per cent of its
principal amount on 27 November 2011 (the maturity
date of the Convertible Bonds).

On 25 March 2010, the Company issued 1%
convertible bonds with an aggregate amount of
HK$1,098,000,000 (“CB 2015”). The bondholder
has the option to convert the CB 2015 into ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each at a
conversion price of HK$0.43 at any time during the
period commencing from 25 March 2012. Unless
previously converted or purchased or redeemed,
each CB 2015 shall be redeemed by the Company
at 100 per cent of its principal amount on 25 March
2015 (the maturity date of the Convertible Bonds).

The proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible
Bonds have to be split into liability and equity
components. On issuance of the Convertible
Bonds, the fair value of the equity component is
determined using an option price model; and this
amount is carried as in reserve until extinguished
on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the liability component and
is carried as a liability on the amortised cost basis
until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
The equity component is measured at fair value on
the issuance date and any subsequent changes in
fair value of the equity component as at the end of
reporting period are recognised in the reserve.

m:%%A$+fﬂ—+tH'$“
a) B 17 A~ € 42 %850,000,000 7% JT 2
ErBmREF(ZE——Fa@mRE
) EEBBEABRE T ——F
AR EHFIZRSRR0.456 B T2 MR
BEBRAARAFEREMEONIBITLL
iR o @#Zmaiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
B ZBAIRAREARZE——F+—
A= +tE(T%kﬁ%H%E)&$
S22 100% BERBH T ——F7
BRRES -

R-ZE—ZTF=F-+HH  AQA
17 RN & # %8 1,098,000,00078 JT 1
ErmREF(ZE—RAFARRKRE
5] EEBBEABER-_ZT—Z=F
Z“AZ+ThABRAMRNERER - &
TE-REABRESFIZRERR0.43
BLZRREERAANGBREE
0.01 BTz E@m - RIEZATEER
HBELELD - TRARRAR-E
—HEE=ZA-+HAB(JHERESD
HA)ZRASEZ100%EEZH =
T—AFABRES -

BTR AR ESF RS Z KB D B
BEMERED - RBEITAIRBRES
B EaBSo AR ERREEER
NHETEERBEBRKXER  FAEN
BZRBFER D EABELS I LA
BEZREHEASN  BEWRERAE
B - a0 UBITHZ AAER
E HERKEMRZE[EDZBD
Z AR AEZEA 2 MBS B
RHER °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZZZ—ZF = A=+ —HLFE
33. Share Capital 33. BA
The Group
and the Company
AEBRARAT
2010 2009
—E-FF —FTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Authorised VERE
At the beginning of the year FN(ZZEENF :
(2009: 2,000,000,000) ordinary 2,000,000,000 %) F A% HIE
shares of HK$0.01 each 0.01 BT zEBIR 20,000 20,000
Increase during the year £ N4E 10 8,000,000,000 A%
8,000,000,000 ordinary shares of SAXE{E0.01B L2 @R
HK$0.01 each (Note a) (Ktita) 80,000 =
At the end of the year 4% 10,000,000,000 %
10,000,000,000 (2009: (ZZEZN4F : 2,000,000,000
2,000,000,000) ordinary shares %) G AREE0.01 BT 2
of HK$0.01 each I3 A 100,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid BEEITREE
At the beginning of the F4]1,759,298,000 fx (=& F
year 1,759,298,000 (2009: AU : 438,000,000 B ) & AR
438,000,000) ordinary shares HEO0.01 7Ty EEK
of HK$0.01 each 17,593 4,380
Issue of new shares upon exercise KT {eBE A% HERF 2577 3T A% (D
of share options (Note b) (Hiitb) 770 —
Issue of new shares under share  RIEMK (D REZITH KD
subscriptions (Note c) (Biate) 8,310 620
Issue of consideration shares RN B A R BETRER D
upon acquisition of subsidiaries (Hiatd)
(Note d) — 2,656
Issue of new shares under BB -_FT—-=FaBRES
conversion of CB 2013 (Note e) R (Kite) — 8,840
Issue of new shares under BERBR-_T——F o BRES
conversion of CB 2011 (Note f) RIS (B2 ) — 1,097
At the end of the year HF1#R2 667,298,000 (—FF
2,667,298,000 (2009: N : 1,759,298,000 %)
1,759,298,000) ordinary shares HRMEEO.01 /BT L@
of HK$0.01 each 26,673 17,593
Note: #az -
(a) Pursuant to special general meeting held on 2 (a) BEBER-_ZZTNFELA-HR
July 2009, the authorised share capital of the ZBRERFHNRE AR TZ&EHX

Company was increased from HK$20,000,000 to
HK$100,000,000 by the creation of 8,000,000,000
additional new shares of HK$0.01 each, ranking pari
passu in all respects with the existing shares of the

Company.

7N 3% 3@ #2 2% 8,000,000,000 % & A&
HEOOIB T 2RI G - B
20,000,000 % 7T & Z= 100,000,000
ST uzﬁ%ﬁﬁxfﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁm
AIZBEAROZHRERER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%

THE= A+ —HILER

33. Share Capital (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b)

On 31 December 2009, a supplier and a consultant
exercised share options to subscribe 600,000
shares and 20,000,000 shares of the Company
at an exercise price of HK$0.125 per share with
consideration of HK$75,000 and HK$2,500,000
respectively, of which a total of HK$206,000 was
credited to share capital account and the balance
HK$2,369,000 was credited to share premium
account.

On 25 January 2010, two employee, a consultant
and a supplier exercised share options to
subscribe 7,000,000 shares, 5,000,000 shares and
19,400,000 shares of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.125 per share with consideration
of HK$875,000, HK$624,000 and HK$2,425,000
respectively, of which a total of HK$314,000 was
credited to share capital account and the balance
HK$3,611,000 was credited to share premium
account.

On 22 March 2010, Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick, a
director of the Company exercised share options
to subscribe 25,000,000 shares of the Company
at an exercise price of HK$0.125 per share with
a total consideration of HK$3,125,000, of which
HK$250,000 was credited to share capital account
and the balance HK$2,875,000 was credited to share
premium account.

33. A (#)

Bz - (&)

(b)

R—_ZEZENE+_A=+—8
—HHER R —BER S RIRT
FESR0.125B LT B RE -
i 600,000/% &%20,000,000H%
RKpalfgfm - K{EHHIA75,000
75T 2,500,000 T © Heh A H
206,000/ et ARRAER B - ek
2,369,000/ 7T Al 5T A B 170 %= (8 IR
ﬁq °

R-E—ZFTF—F_-_+HH WA
B8 —ZERE—REEFSD
HITE B FIX0.12578 T 1716 85 AR

# - 7 & 7,000,000 f% * 5,000,000
A% %2 19,400,000 R AR RIS+ 4K
& % 5l &£875,000%# JT * 624,000
75 7T ] 2,425,000/ 70 © HAh A& K
314,000 TET ABRAERE © MeR
63,611,000 7t A 5F A IR 190 & (B
BRA e

RZE—ZFTEFE=A=-+=-H ' &
PEAIEEEINHAERITHERE
FRR0.12548 T 17 £ B8 IR #E - 7
825,000,000 88 & 2 & & 5
R B 53,125,000 T H
250,000 TTET ABRAERE - MeR
%6 2,875,000 % 7t A 5F A IR 19 ' (B
R o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5% ¥R 3R B AT

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z ZF— %4

A=+

HIEFE

33. Share Capital (Continved)

Note: (Continued)

(c)

On 30 January 2009 and 25 March 2009, 50,000,000
and 12,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued to subscribers at a total consideration of
HK$6,250,000 and HK$1,500,000 respectively, of
which HK$500,000 and HK$120,000 were credited
to share capital account and the net balance after
expenses of HK$5,599,000 and HK$1,375,000 were
credited to share premium account.

On 20 May 2009, 29 May 2009, 21 September
2009, 5 February 2010 and 25 March 2010,
50,000,000, 25,000,000, 16,000,000, 300,000,000
and 440,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued to subscribers at a total consideration of
HK$13,796,000, HK$7,989,000, HK$3,880,000,
HK$150,638,000 and HK$241,934,000 respectively,
of which a total of HK$8,310,000 was credited to
share capital account and the net balance after
expenses of HK$414,327,000 was credited to share
premium account.

On 28 April 2008, 156,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at a price
of HK$0.32 per share as part of the consideration for
the acquision of NJ Everyday Buy.

On 27 November 2008, 109,649,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued
at a price of HK$0.456 per share as part of the
consideration for the acquision of New Success
Group.

33. A& (#)

Bz (&)

(c)

R_ZBEZThF—A=THER=_ZZ
NE=ZA=-+HAB ' AR A RRE
A % 7750,000,000 % 12,000,000
& @K E 5 5kl %6,250,000
B 7T & 1,500,000 T £H A
500,000/ 7t & 120,000/ JT &
ABRKAEER KB EZEE®
5,599,000 7T & 1,375,000 7% 7T Bl
AR EERE ©

R-BEZNFRA-_+H:  —Z
TAERA-TNAE —_ZTZ A
FANA-_+—H —E—FTF—
ARRABER=ZZE—EF=A=+Hh
H » 50,000,000 f% * 25,000,000
fi% + 16,000,000 /% * 30,000,000
f% %% 440,000,000 8% AN 2 7] B& 1
DRBETTREA BRED 5
413,796,000 JT * 7,989,000/%5
JC * 3,880,000 JTt * 150,638,000
B T N 241,934,000 T H
A #£8,310,0007 7T 5t A B &
RE MHBRAXI &R TFE
414,327,00078 7t Bl 5T A B 15 i (&
A

RZZEZNEFMA=-_+/\H ' &
RAEEFR032B T ZEBRET
156,000,000 f% & A% 0.01 %8 7T 2 &
BRATAHOWERERRREZ
KRB o

RZZEZENF+—A=++tH ' &
DAEEMR0.456 8 T 2 BIK 3T
109,649,000 % & A% 0.01 %8 7T 2 &
BRAS RO WER BT EER
ZARAE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%

SE=AS+—BILEE

33. Share Capital (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(e)

On 3 October 2008, 22 December 2008, 19 January
2009, 5 March 2009 and 26 March 2009, the
Company received notices of exercise of conversion
rights to convert the CB 2013 in principal amount
of HK$77,350,000, HK$16,000,000, HK$64,530,000,
HK$32,000,000 and HK$93,000,000 respectively into
new shares of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$0.32 per share, pursuant to that 241,720,000,
50,000,000, 201,655,000, 100,000,000 and
290,625,000 shares of the Company were issued and
alloted.

On 8 December 2008, the Company received a
notice of exercise of conversion rights to convert the
CB 2011 in principal amount of HK$50,000,000 into
new shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$0.456 per share, pursuant to that 109,649,000
shares of the Company were issued and alloted.

34.Reserves

(a) The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
the movements therein for the current and
prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 48 of
the financial statements.

33. A (#)

B (&)

(e)

R=ZZEZENF+A=ZRH" =
ZENF+_AZ+=-H Z=Z
ANE—A+ALR —ETNF=
ARBR-ZZEZEAF=ZA=-+X
B ARA D56 E 176 5 B
A LN BMESTRO032HE T A
BA <€ 5 5 A77,350,0007% T
16,000,000/ JT * 64,530,000
JT * 32,000,000 % 7t & 93,000,000
BILZ _E—=ZFaBRESAAR
DRAFK  BULARREBEITRD
fic 241,720,000 * 50,000,000 -
201,655,000 ~ 100,000,000
290,625,000 A% PEAD °

A

Al

RZZEZENEFE+=_ANB " ARA
WEITERRERA  WHRES
1% 0.456 7 T A, # 78 € 50,000,000
BILZ _E——FaBRRESAAR
RAEFE  BUHARREBITES
fid 109,649,000 B PE(D °

34. 1B

(a) *~5%£HE

AEBRAEERBEFE
BLEREEHERING B
BEREBAZGARSEDE
A o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5% ¥R 3R B AT

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZZ—TF = A= +—HILFE
34. Reserves (Continued) 34. R
(b) The Company (b) ARAFE
Convertible
bonds-equity
Share  Accumulated  Contributed component
premium losses surplus TRERES Total
B aE 2B EfB®  — ERIf @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Note(i)
(#1320
At 1 April 2008 RIZENE
mA—H 177,047 (30,638) 13,107 — 159,516
Issue of shares Bk 104,012 — — — 104,012
Issue of convertible Bk
bonds &% — - — 35,459 35,459
Conversion of IRl
convertible bonds & 322,943 — — (35,459) 287,484
Loss for the year ERER = (5,786) = — (5,786)
At 31 March 2009 RZBENE
ZA=t-H 604,002 (36,424) 13,107 — 580,685
Issue of shares ] 414,327 = = = 414,327
Exercise of share option  #7{E Bk 1E 8,855 — — — 8,855
Issue of convertible Bk
bonds EH — — 437,793 437,793
Loss for the year FEER — = — (617,987)
At 31 March 2010 R-E-ZF=H
== 1,027,184 13,107 437,793 823,673
Note: HiaF -
(i) The contributed surplus of the Company (i) ARBlzEHRBHBIEREN

represents the difference between the
underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired by the Company and the nominal
value of the shares issued by the Company
in exchange thereof pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as set out
in the prospectus of the Company dated 26
March 2001. Under the Companies Act 1998
of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus
is available for distribution to shareholders,
subject to the condition that the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if (a) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due, or (b)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and
its issued share capital and share premium
account.

BREIZHEBEEFERARR
AIRBEMREARBAR _-F
T—F=A - F+REHEZE
BERMBASER _TT—
FZA-_+HZEAMETZ
RO EECEZRE - RIEBBRE
—NANFREEGIERT) -
BEHBHRAEIKTIRE - I
fid (a) AN 22 B A SR AR BB OR 3K
REEEEIHEE  H(b)
AREBEZAZHRE/ IR
HEE S #HTRARERO
EREE  AIRRETEE
IRERNALE - TFFDIRE
BERR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —SF = A= +—HILFE
35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries 35. REBEME A 7]
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group HE_Z-—TF=-A=1T—HILF
acquired entire interest of Kang Yuan Group for a E - AEEBARREE 2250
consideration of HK$1,402,544,000. Since then, @ ER{EA1,402,544,0008 T °
Kang Yuan Group became the Group’s subsidiaries. iz BEREBKARAEBZWEAR
Ej o
The net assets acquired in the transaction and the REMEZEEFBENRT :
goodwill arising are as follows:
The Group
N |
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before Total
combination Fair value Fair
HWEAR adjustment value
EHAIZEEE ATEAR AYEAE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FE7 FEn FE
Net assets acquired: IS EERE :
Property, plant and equipment mE - B REE 137,714 - 137,714
Construction in progress rERIE 42,616 (12,048) 30,568
Prepaid land lease payment AR LHES 33,516 2,052 35,568
Accounts and bills receivables N EEOES 254,903 - 254,903
Other intangible assets HtEREE — 263,182 263,182
Inventories TE 138,092 — 138,092
Other receivables and prepayment  E Uk 2008 KT8 1 2008 108,692 — 108,692
Pledged deposit [REERIEE 107,393 — 107,393
Bank balance and cash RITHEGELERE 60,567 — 60,567
Accounts and notes payable EREAREE (240,049) — (240,049)
Other payables and accrued charges EfhfE R~ 2B & fEs+ & (30,674) — (30,674)
Bank loans RITERK (254,545) — (254,545)
Capital reserve BB (26,062) — (26,062)
332,163 253,186 585,349
Goodwill (Note 18) HE(WiE18) 817,195
1,402,544
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A= +—HILFE
35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Continued) 35. REBEM B A &l e
2010
—E-%%
HK$’000
FET
Total consideration satisfied by: DT AZ T 2 BHRE
Cash Be 304,544
Issue of convertible bonds RITAARESR 1,098,000
1,402,544
Net cash outflow arising on RWEmEE 2 RE RN
acquisition: R
Cash consideration paid ERNRERE 304,544
Less: Bank balances and cash B BRITEER
acquired Ré (167,960)
136,584
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group HE_TTZNF=A=+T—RHItF
acquired 80% interest of Nanjing Everyday Buy, B AEEBABRRAKEZ80%#
entire interest of New Sucess Group and entire mRHBEE s 25 &XIndorus
interest of Indorus Investments Limited and its Investments Limited & H i & A 7
subsidiary (“Indorus Group”) for considerations ([Indorus &£ B ) 2 2 & #E s - A
of HK$365,862,000, HK$122,104,000 and B R E 5 5l A365,862,000/% 7t *
HK$1,200,000, respectively. Since then, NJ Everyday 122,104,000%% st K 1,200,000
Buy, New Success Group and Indorus Group TToE MRARE  FBEEE
became the Group’s subsidiaries. Eindorus EBXAAEB 2B A

EJ o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ - Z—TF = A=+ HILFE
35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Continued) 35. REBEM B A &l e
The net assets acquired in the transaction and the REGFEREMEBMEEX ZEEFEN
goodwill arising are as follows: T
The Group
T£H
Indorus
NJ Everyday Buy New Success Group Group
BRRRE FBRE Indorus £ 8
Acquiree’s
Acquiree’s Acquiree’s carrying
carrying carrying amount before
amount amount combination
before before and fair value
combination combination RuBLR Total
RUBLE  Fair value Fair  HWELF  Fair value Far  AffEiz Fair
AffaiZ  adjustment value AftaZ  adjustment value REER value

BEE 0YESS  OTE  REE AVEEE  OTE  OVE  OVESH
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$000
FAL FAT FAT FAT 7T FAT FAL FAT
Net assets acquired:  FSAEEE:

Property, plant and nx HER

equipment 4 % (74 2 45% (613 3913 - 39%
Interest in an associated  REFEAF R
company 5,569 - 5,569 - - - - 5,569
Goodwill in an associated HNEAAT AR
company 5795 - 5,795 — — — — 5,795
Goodwill in a subsidiary  RHBAT/EE - - = 2715 - 2715 - 2715
Other intangible assets ~ EtEHEE — 83,000 83,000 — 98,000 98,000 — 181,000
Inventories 75 - = - 1492 - 1492 - 1492
Other receivables and £ ENFER
prepayment R 11,280 - 11,280 20,853 - 20,853 — 32,133
Bank balance and cash ~ HTEEERES 118 — 118 408 = 408 1214 1,740
Accounts payables EfiEE - — = (211) - (211) = (211)
Other payablesand ~ HHERZUAR
accrued charges ErER (18,070) = (13,070) (14,570) = (14,570) = (27,640)
Minority interests DERF R (1.958) (16,585) (18,543) (7515) = (7515) = (26,058)
7,830 66,341 74171 7,698 97,387 106,085 1,214 180,470
Goodwil (Note 18) BE (Wi 18) 308,696

489,166
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ =%

SE=AS+—BILEE

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Continued)

Total consideration satisfied by:

Cash
Issue of convertible bonds
Issue of new shares

Net cash outflow arising
on acquisition:

Cash consideration paid
Less: Bank balances and cash
acquired

IR 2 B E -

Rt
LhaRER
Lk

AlENELZ
RERLFE

EfifeRE
A FREAERR
e

36.

Share Options

(a)

Under the share option scheme | (“Scheme
|”) approved by the shareholders, the Board
of the Company may, at its discretion, invite
full-time employees including any executive
directors to take up options to subscribe for
shares in the Company representing up to a
maximum of 30% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time, excluding
for this purpose from the calculation of issued
share capital (i) any shares issued pursuant to
the exercise of options under the Share Option
Scheme or pursuant to the exercise of options
under any other scheme; and (ii) any pro rata
entitlements to further shares issued in respect
of those shares referred to in (i) above during a
period of 10 consecutive years from the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

35. BB A Rl )

2009
“IENE
HK$'000
AT

56,366
332,880
99,920

489,166

56,366
(1,740)
54,626

36. Bk

(a) RIBBREREZBEBRETS —
([518—1) XRAREFESAH
BEEBEZBEE(BEE@MNT
EF)EMTRERZELRQA]
ERCBITIRAI0% KM 2B
Wi - MRS - EAE 3T
BAZAEFEZLTBIEGBE
ITERIREARES S AT H A
FFEIR L 2 AR M BT 2 M
BR1D - R (i) A ER 4N B AR #E 5T 2l
HERTEETFHAR EX
(i) AT it 2 52 5 A& 15 1 4% Lt 31 2%
T2 EMEMARS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZZZ—ZF = A=+

HILFE

36. Share Options (Continved)

(a)

(Continued)

The subscription price for the shares in relation
to options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the
Board and shall be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares on the date of
grant (the “Offer Date”); (ii) the average closing
price of the shares for the five day business
days immediately preceding the Offer Date;
and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company. The options are exercisable within
a period not less than 3 years or more than 10
years from the Offer Date.

No share options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme | since its adoption on 20
March 2001.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
on a special general meeting dated 13 July
2004 and the entering into of the Technical
Support Agreement between Hunan Digital
and Hunan Provincial Television Network
Company Limited, a minority shareholder of
Hunan Digital, the Company has granted an
option (“Option”) to Sky Dragon Holdings on
5 January 2005, a company owned by Mr.
Feng Xiao Ping, a director of the Company to
subscribe for 30 million shares of the Company
at an exercise price of HK$0.788 per share.
The Option is exercisable at any time in three
equal proportion to subscribe the shares of the
Company from February 2005, August 2005 and
February 2006 respectively and up until five
years from 2 August 2004. On 21 June 2007,
Sky Dragon Holdings exercised share option to
subscribe 10,000,000 shares of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$0.788 per share. The
Option are lapsed in August 2009. At 31 March
2010, there remained no outstanding share
options.

36. B IR

(a)

(%&)

BIEBRET SR L 2 BARERR
5&&2]&@253@%{5&3%%/'\5%

C ERBERG) RS R EE
%hﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁz%m
EB:(RMHEEXLEBHA
BEEB 2 FHRTE  K(ii)
KRR EEUERSE A
5@°%%%T#%ﬁﬁ%i%
TOR=ZFRBBTF2HEA
ﬂﬁ

BT F=-_A-+HEMNBE
Piest &l — AR - B ERIREK
RERT B DB AAE -

BE—ER-_ZETENFLA+=
ARKRRENAE L@Ac R
RERRAEBFRAREE T
SRR AEEEESREASE
EREMARG N 2 BT E
E AREIRZETRF—
ARARXEZER(—HEAARD
AESH/NTEEHE2RAT)
REERE(ERE] @ ik
FRRRM0.788 B L 2 1TEER
#% 30,000,000 i A8 A B R 19 ©
BEREISIN_ZTTRF =
A ZZEZRFNARZEER
F= AR ERRHNR=(EREEL
BIITE AR BE AR AR (D
—EENMFENA AR AFA
- RZETELFNAF—
H - REZERTEBRE 5
IZAZ17 0.788 B L 2 1T EREE
10,000, oooﬂ§$@ AR 1D - BB
h%ﬁ TETNFNRE - R
—ZTF=A=+—QH " WEHE
%%*%ﬁﬁo
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5% ¥R 3R B AT

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z ZF— %4

A=+

HIEFE

36. Share Options (Continved)

(c)

Under the share option scheme Il (“Scheme
[1”) approved by the shareholders, the
Board of the Company may, at its discretion,
invite any employee, director, supplier of
goods or services, customer of Company or
any Subsidiary; agent, adviser, consultant,
strategist, contractor, sub-contractor, expert
or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support or any valuable
services to Company or any Subsidiary;
shareholder of Company or any Subsidiary or
holder of any securities issued by Company or
any Subsidiary to take up options to subscribe
for shares in the Company representing in
aggregate, not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of
approval of Scheme Il and a maximum of 30%
of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time, excluding for this purpose
from the calculation of issued share capital
(i) any shares issued pursuant to the exercise
of options under the Share Option Scheme or
pursuant to the exercise of options under any
other scheme; and (ii) any pro rata entitlements
to further shares issued in respect of those
shares referred to in (i) above during a period
of 10 consecutive years from the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The options are exercisable within a period not
more than 10 years from the Offer Date.

36. BB E )

(c)

BEREECBRESE =
([3t8I=]) - "RARIEEEA
MiERFTANES - ES - ADQ
RISEAIHTE AR 2 & Mm%
HER - BF : MAREISHEM
B8 A Al IR AR A 2 ok H A BT S
BRRAMEEEREZRE B
M BHA - RESED - AR
DENE  BERNEE AQFA
s AR T B A 7 2 BR R R AN A &
KB AR ZREARRF K
ERIM B AR BT ZEMFHRZ
BEANENAIREBEETBHEA
ARSI —#E BB %7
BAEAZ1I0% R &ZELRREE
BB B 1TIRAN30% %19 2 B8 B%
o MEREmE - LB BT’
A2 ERELTBIE()ATT
AR 15 BB AR M 5 B sk A R E A 5T
B 2 Bk Em BT AR
7 (i) REMERET SR
R EE T FHAR ()
Bl 2 s E R D MR Bl 1T 2
EfEH AR ©

AR R R AR T ER
10 FHIRATTE °

CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED Risth 23R AR AR | 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —SF = A= +—HILFE
36. Share Options (Continved) 36. B (=)
The fair value of the Options were calculated by BREZ A FEHBZEERRD A
independent valuation company in 2009 and 2010 RZZZNERZZ—ZFFHE ' 2
respectively. Fair value are measured using the FEDZREHPETEENGTE - %
Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model. The RAMAETRBT
inputs into the model were as follows:
Note 9 March 2009 1 April 2009
Wi —TETAF=AhBE ZTFTHLFWMA—H
Exercise price HK$0.125 HK$0.125
171£(8 0.125% 7T 0.125% 7T
Risk free rate
ERER B X (i) 1.074% 1.143%
Expected life 10 years 4 years
T H4F Hf (ii) 10 4 F
Volatility
(EREE) (iii) 136.502% 138.119%
Expected dividend yield
FEHR 8 =& 0% 0%
Note: Hiaz -

(i) The risk free rate is determined by the reference to
the Exchange Fund Notes and their expected life.

(i) Expected life is determined by the historical
performance record of the Group.

(iii) The price volatility of the share price of the Company
was based on 100 trading days.

() ERAREXDSEHNEEZSEERR
HEMFHMEE °

(i) BHMFEHIREANEEBEEREAR
BRMEE °

(i) ARRREZEREBDIIREGBE
—BHEAXZEMEE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —TF = A=+ HILFE

TR

37.Impairment Testing of Goodwill and J/HERAMERLEE 2R
Other Intangible Assets BRI

N4
Smm
—
iy

The Group
rEH

Goodwill Patents Technologies

[k R % 1l

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FHET
Sales of Agricultural $HE BHEM R K JE K

machinery and fertilizer 817,195 — 258,782
Sale of cordyceps related HEILRXREEEHA

product Em — 10,000 —

817,195 10,000 258,782

Management has assessed the recoverable
amount of the goodwill by estimating the cash
flows expected to be generated from the acquired
business and determined that impairment charges
of approximately HK$81,400,000 and HK$88,000,000
and HK$83,000,000 should be recorded on goodwill,
Patent and License respectively in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st March
2010.

The recoverable amount is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
pre-tax cash flow projections based on the financial
budgets prepared by management. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks to the
business.

ERECEBMIAINEERENE
EzBREREBTEHEHE 2T IKEH
B WATHE  FMERTAUE
BB E 5 R 481,400,000 7T &
88,000,0007% 7t &% 83,000,000 % T
EREBEZ-_T—ZTF=-A=+—HL
FEZIEGREMBHRERLE -

ARmEBERREREEFEME
o UWEFAERAREEBRE M
BREELZHAMBRSRERR - T
MR RBBA - X RBRERSER

i o
AA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —SF = A= +—HILFE

38.Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow 3. mERERERMEE

Statement
Bank and other loans: SRITRHEMERN :
The Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZTNEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEL
At the beginning of year F4 15,125 11,664
Translation difference bE 5 = 5E — 52
Bank and other loans acquired FTEIG 2 |R1T R EME R 254,545 —
Bank and other loans repaid EEEZRITREMER — =
Bank and other loans raised FTiRER 2 SR1T R E B 5k 42,557 3,409
At the end of year FAR 312,227 15,125
39. Capital Commitments 39. H&iE
The Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contracted but not provided for: 22 4B K&
Film development B Ak — 17,350
Construction in progress EETRE 33,930 —
The Company had no significant commitments at the REREHIR  ANAQ T W E REPE -

end of reporting period.

2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45§ | Rl MR AT CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 137
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B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HEZ -2 —TF = A=+ HILFE

40. Operating Leases 40.

The Group had commitments for future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of renting of premises which fall
due as follows:

medy

BEEEAEMEZ T RELER
# o NREBAATRE 2 REFEM
EARIE

The Group
rEH

2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —F K 4,831 7,563
In the second to fifth year inclusive F —EFRAF(BEEEMF) 13,273 8,320
Over five years AFAE 32,599 3,721
50,703 19,604

The Company had no significant operating leases at
the end of reporting period.

41.Related Party Transaction 41.

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the financial
statements, the Group had the following significant
related party transaction during the year:

(a) Transactions with related party

Interest payment (Note i) SAFE AT

RBERR > AARLESALEH
# e

EREALRS

BrEF ISR MG 29T I EEE 4N - &
EERFABUNTERBEALR
5

(a) HREEALZXS

The Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZTThF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

— 229
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B 7% ¥R 3R B T

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZEZZ—%4

41.

42.

43.

A=+

HIEFE

Related Party Transaction (Continved)

(a) Transactions with related party (Continued)

Note:

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2009, it
represented interest on amount due to a related
company, Sky Dragon Holdings, which is
unsecured and interest-bearing at a yearly rate
of 5%. Mr. Feng Xiao Ping, a director of the
Company, has beneficial interest in the related
company.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The directors’ emoluments set out in note 15
represent the compensation paid/payable to the
key management personnel.

The remuneration of directors and key
executives is reviewed by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends

Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
and adjusted to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

Subsequent Events

On 9 April 2010, the Company issued 20,000,000
and 10,000,000 shares in principal amounts of
HK$2,500,000 and HK$1,250,000 to an employee
and two consultants of the Company respectively
pursuant to exercise of share options granted under
the share option scheme Il of the Company.

On 26 April 2010, the Company issued 1,500,000
shares in principal amounts of HK$187,500 to an
employee pursuant to exercise of share options
granted under the share option scheme Il of the
Company.

41.

42.

43

BEHEEALTRZ @)
(a) EBEATZRB (&)
Mzt -

() HBE_ZFTAF=A=t+—H
EFE - WA ERKREN =
NAREERERARKIEALZ
B o ZRIAAEEMR R IAF
MEE%EE - ARRIZES
HNFRERZEERRESR
B -

(b) EEEEABZHM
ME1smBcEEMeED N
SENETEEBABZME -

FNZEeRBEEARRELTS
BERIEEREBTRAERZ

BT

ETHBRBFEREF D BLFHE
NREAREFEREZE5TR -

HREHRREER

RZZE—ZEFWNANAE ARAE
TEREBEAQGBREFE T
HeERE DRREAAR—%E
8 &k ™ % B [ % 720,000,000 A%
10,000,000 f& H (AR € % 5B
2,500,000 7T & 1,250,000/87C) °

RZZE—ZFFPWA-_+BH AR
AETERBERAAGERETE =
Frxt cERE mM—REBET
1,500,000 % B 17 (AR & %8 & 187,500
BIT) ©
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

H b B 75 & &

Financial Summary HMBREE
Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
BE BE BHE BZE BE
—E-ZF ZIZTTNEFE ZTENF ZZTTtHF ZTITRF
=A =k =k =k =]
=+-—H =+—H =+—H =+—H =+—H
LEE EFE EFE LEE EFE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Results i
Loss attributable RRREE A
to owners of the FEILEE
Company (269,331)  (283,421) (25,687) (17,061) (14,677)
As at As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
S JiN JiN i i
—E-BF —ITTNF ZTIENF ZIZTTLF TITRF
=A =A =A =H =H
=+-—H =+—H =+—H =+—~H =+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 K$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Assets and liabilities BEEREBE
Total assets BESLE 2,163,131 344,925 146,042 58,217 66,416
Total liabilities BEESE (1,252,952) (49,390) (34,022) (79,735) (70,823)
910,179 295,535 112,020 (21,518) (4,407)
The figures for the year ended 31 March 2005 have been HE-_ZTTRAF=-A=+—RHLFEZ

restated pursuant to the adoption of HKFRS 2. Prior year

adjustment was put through in this financial year which i

increased HK$6 million losses.

BFEDIRBEATEVBRSER

|55 2

meE% - %z 8 BEE EH
6,000,000 8 T EHE 2 EFEFHE -
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